



ECDC GUIDANCE

HIV and STI prevention among men who have sex with men

www.ecdc.europa.eu

ECDC GUIDANCE

HIV and STI prevention among men who have sex with men



This report was commissioned by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), coordinated by Anastasia Pharris and Andrew J. Amato-Gauci with technical input from Paloma Carrillo-Santisteve, Tarik Derrough, Erika Duffell, Marco Fonzo, Yvan Hutin, Teymur Noori, Otilia Mårdh (Sfetcu), Gianfranco Spiteri, Lara Tavoschi, Marita van de Laar, and Piotr Wysocki. The first draft of the guidance was produced by a team led by Anna Thorson (Karolinska Institutet), including Ford Hickson (Sigma Research, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine); Susanne Strömdahl and Stefan Baral (Karolinska Institutet); Merixtell Sabido (Universitat de Girona, formerly Fundació Sida i Societat); Staffan Hallin and Viveca Urwitz (both independent consultants, formerly Public Health Agency of Sweden).

Invaluable input was received from the guidance expert panel, which included the following persons: Rigmor C Berg, Norwegian Knowledge Center for Health Services, Norway, Torsten Berglund, Public Health Agency of Sweden (Folkhälsomydigheten), Hans Blystad, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Norway, Michael Bochow, Consultant, Germany, Jordi Casabona i Barbarà, Center for HIV/STI Epidemiological Studies of Catalonia/Catalan Agency for Public Health, Spain, Susan Cowan, Statens Serum Institute, Denmark, Nikos Dedes, Positive Voice, Greece, Nicklas Dennermalm, Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer Rights, Sweden, Jonathan Elford, University College London, United Kingdom, Cary James Leid, Terrance Higgins Trust, United Kingdom, Mikael Jonsson, Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer Rights, Sweden, Tudor Kovacs, PSI, Romania, Raul Lindemann, Estonian Network of PLWH, Estonia, Ulrich Marcus, Robert Koch Institute, Germany, Michael Meulbroek, BCN Checkpoint, Projecte dels NOMS-Hispanosida, Barcelona, Spain, Massimo Mirandola, SIALON II Project and Infectious Disease Section, Verona University Hospital, Italy, Anthony Nardone, Public Health England, United Kingdom, Christiana Nöstlinger, Institute of Tropical Medicine Antwerp, Belgium, Ferran Pujol, BCN Checkpoint, Projecte dels NOMS-Hispanosida, Barcelona, Spain, Dirk Sander, Deutsche AIDS-Hilfe, Germany, Axel J. Schmidt, EMIS Project and Sigma Research, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, United Kingdom, Ineke Stolte, Public Health Service of Amsterdam (GGD), Netherlands, Inga Upmace, Baltic HIV Association, Latvia, Iwona Wawer, National AIDS Programme, Poland, Matthias Wentzlaff-Eggebert, Consultant, Germany.

Steven Derendinger and Roger Staub of the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health and Carolina Orre of the Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer Rights are gratefully acknowledged for helpful comments on an early draft of the guidance.

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV and STI prevention among men who have sex with men. Stockholm: ECDC; 2015.

Stockholm, June 2015 ISBN 978-92-9193-643-4 doi 10.2900/66666 Catalogue number TQ-04-15-381-EN-N

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2015 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

Abbreviations	
Executive summary	1
Introduction	
Epidemiology of infections among MSM in the EU/EEA	2
Factors affecting the sexual health of MSM in the EU/EEA	2
Rationale for a European guidance	3
Aim and target audience	
Guidance development	5
Evidence base	
Expert consultations	6
Values and principles	6
Values and principles of service provision	
Key components of public health programmes to address HIV and STIs among MSM	8
Combine key components to achieve synergy	
Seven key components of public health programmes to address HIV and STIs among MSM	9
Vaccinations	9
Condoms	
Testing and screening for HIV and STIs	
Treatment provision	. 13
Health promotion	
Deliver MSM-competent health services	. 17
Targeted care for HIV-positive MSM	
Settings for health promotion interventions for MSM	. 21
Sex venues	
Internet and mobile phone-based interventions	
Match effective interventions to specific prevention needs	
Monitoring and evaluation of programmes	
Implications for future research	. 24
Conclusions	. 24
References	. 25
Annex 1. Interventions, strength of evidence, and expert opinion	
Interventions reviewed which were not included in the guidance due to strength of evidence and expert opinion	. 32
Annex 2. Links and related guidance	
Consolidated strategic information guidelines for HIV in the health sector (WHO 2015)	. 34

Abbreviations

Executive summary

In all countries of the European Union and European Economic Area, men who have sex with men (MSM) are disproportionately affected by HIV and other sexually transmitted infections including gonorrhoea, syphilis, chlamydia and hepatitis B and C. In several countries in the region, the incidence of these infections has increased among MSM, in some cases markedly, over the last decade. There is evidence that services to prevent, diagnose and treat infections are not being delivered at the appropriate scale to impact on transmission patterns.

Based on a systematic review of the literature and expert opinion, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control suggests that there is good evidence to ensure that the following key components are considered for inclusion in national and sub-national public health programmes in countries in Europe. The evidence indicates that these services and interventions can effectively prevent and reduce HIV and STI transmission among MSM, address the needs of MSM who are living with HIV, as well as promote sexual health among all MSM.

- **Vaccinations:** Promote and deliver vaccination to protect against hepatitis A and B. Consider vaccination for human papilloma virus (HPV).
- Condoms: Provide easily accessible condoms and condom-compatible lubricants and promote their effective use.
- **HIV and STI testing**: Provide voluntary and confidential HIV and STI counselling and testing via a variety of modalities that are easy to access for the target group. Voluntary partner referral can support the early diagnosis and treatment of contacts.
- **Treatment:** Timely provision of treatment for HIV, viral hepatitis and STI should be ensured. Preventive benefits of treatment are significant.
- Health promotion: Provide accurate and accessible information that enables men to understand and assess sexual health-related risks and prevention efficacy, and that promotes awareness of one's own HIV and STI status.
- **MSM-competent health services:** MSM-competent points of care offering a comprehensive sexual health programme including health promotion, counselling, peer support, prevention, adequate diagnostics and treatment will increase service uptake. Ensure target group involvement and training for providers on how to offer comprehensive care for MSM.
- Targeted care for MSM living with HIV: Provide antiretroviral treatment for HIV and vaccination; regular STI screening using adequate diagnostics; treatment for STIs; individual counselling, sexual health promotion and peer-support groups for men living with HIV.

Prevention services for MSM should be targeted following the analysis of relevant and reliable epidemiological data, so that services are directed at the appropriate scale to those geographical and risk populations most at risk of HIV and STI infection. Combinations of the suggested key interventions should be offered to MSM in order to achieve synergy and the highest levels of effectiveness. Prevention needs and preferences of MSM vary across and within country settings, by individual and over time. Offering and implementing prevention packages in collaboration with the target group, or where appropriate, by the target group, is crucial to the success of national and sub-national prevention programmes.

As many countries in Europe experience constrained public health budgets, it is more important than ever to implement targeted and evidence-based measures that address the groups most affected by the HIV epidemic as well as those most at-risk for disease acquisition and transmission. The promotion of sexual health using positive messages framed in an empowering environment in relation to individual needs, will ensure greater effectiveness of the prevention efforts resulting in increased sexual health and reduced new infections of HIV and other STI in Europe.

Introduction

Epidemiology of infections among MSM in the EU/EEA

In Europe, men who have sex with men (MSM)ⁱ are disproportionately affected by HIV and other STIs [1, 2]. In 2013, 29 157 people were newly diagnosed with HIV in the European Union/European Economic Area (EU/EEA) [3]. Sex between men was the most common mode of HIV transmission, representing 42% of newly diagnosed HIV cases. There was a 33% increase in HIV diagnoses among MSM observed in the EU/EEA between 2004 and 2013. There is a corresponding cumulative increase in the number of MSM that are living with HIV; in 2012, HIV prevalence among MSM was at or above 5% in 15 EU/EEA countries [4].

Recently there has been an increasing trend in syphilis, with close to half (48%) of new syphilis cases in the EU/EEA in 2012 reported among MSM [2]. Reported gonorrhoea cases are also increasing with 38% of cases in 2012 reported among MSM. Prevalence estimates of hepatitis B among European MSM have varied from 1–10%, with most countries reporting declining trends in incidence, likely due to successful vaccination programmes [5-7]. Still, 12% of reported acute hepatitis B cases in 2012 with known route of transmission were attributed to sex between men [8]. Furthermore, there have been reports of outbreaks of hepatitis A among MSM in several European countries in recent years and trends of increased hepatitis C incidence among HIV-positive MSM observed [9-15].

Factors affecting the sexual health of MSM in the EU/EEA

The higher incidence of HIV observed among MSM as compared with heterosexual populations in similar settings is largely due to the higher transmissibility of HIV via anal intercourse (estimated 1.4% per act transmissibility at unprotected receptive anal intercourse or 14-times greater than that of unprotected receptive vaginal intercourse). There are higher rates of partner acquisition and concurrent partnerships among some groups of MSM as well as a higher density of sexual networks [16-19]. The role of transmission during the acute or primary phase of HIV infection also plays a role in transmission rates among MSM [20].

However, the number of cases of HIV and other STIs diagnosed among MSM in most European countries indicate significant exposure [21-26] coupled with an unmet need for enhanced prevention services. Out of 174 209 MSM participating in the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS), 30% reported at least one episode of anal intercourse where a condom was not used with a partner of unknown or sero-different HIV status during the previous 12 months [27]. Over 13% of EMIS respondents indicated that they had anal intercourse without a condom in the previous 12 months because a condom was not available [28].

Access to and uptake of HIV testing appears to be low among MSM in many EU/EEA countries. Depending on which EU/EEA country, between 20 and 47% of MSM had tested for HIV in the last 12 months and knew their result [28]. The majority of HIV transmission is thought to occur before men are aware of their HIV status [29, 30]. Analysis of EMIS data reveals that most stigmatising societal climates are associated with internalised homonegativity, which influences sexual risk behaviour for HIV/STIs as well as HIV testing uptake [31].

The relatively low testing rates for HIV result in delayed knowledge of HIV status, which is essential for access to treatment. In all European regions, the majority of MSM reporting unprotected anal intercourse (UAI) risks in the preceding 12 month period had not been tested for HIV during this period [28]. More than 35% of HIV cases reported among MSM in 2013 were diagnosed late, and were already in need of treatment (CD4<350 cells/mm³) while nearly 20% of HIV cases among MSM were diagnosed at an advanced stage of the disease (CD4<200 cells/mm³) [3].

Nearly two-fifths (38%) of EMIS respondents did not know if STI testing was free in their country and STI testing in the last 12 months varied from less than 20% to 52%. Even when STI testing was accessed, very few men reported penile or anal inspection (18%) or anal swabbing (16%) as part of the exam [28, 32]. Although vaccination for hepatitis B is recommended for MSM in most EU/EEA countries, about 40% of EMIS respondents were in need of vaccination for hepatitis B and in some countries this proportion was much higher [28].

ⁱ The term 'men who have sex with men' (MSM) is used to recognise that not all homosexually active men have a gay or bisexual identity. MSM attempts to indicate the population of men, including transgender men, engaged in same-sex sexual behaviour inclusive of sexual identity (gay, bisexual, straight, experimenting, etc.) and sexual desire (e.g. it includes men who experience no sexual desire for other men but who engage in sex with men for money or favours). It has become a standard term within HIV prevention work and research and encompasses both men who have sex with men only, and those who have sex with both men and women.

Most countries in the EU/EEA ensure that their national HIV prevention policies and plans have some specific focus on MSM. Across the EU/EEA, MSM are identified as a priority group for the promotion of HIV testing, condoms and targeted information on risk reduction [4]. Stigma reduction and STI testing and treatment among MSM are also common national priorities. However, implementation and coverage of programme services often do not meet policy aspirations. Some countries continue to have legislation that hampers HIV prevention planning and programming. Protective laws that ensure MSM are not subject to discrimination are also often absent [33].

While HIV and STI programmes across Europe include MSM to varying extents, very few settings provide services tailored to the needs of MSM, particularly MSM who are living with HIV. Fewer still comprehensively address men's needs for health promotion to empower sexual health decision-making, HIV and STI testing, treatment, and prevention. More challenging is that due to stigma and fear of discrimination, significant numbers of men in parts of Europe do not disclose their sexual orientation to others. A recent survey conducted by the EU Fundamental Rights Agency found that 38% of gay male respondents said that none of their healthcare providers were aware of their sexual orientation [34]. The European MSM Internet Survey showed that lack of 'being out' was associated with sexual unhappiness, not being tested for HIV, lack of coverage by HIV prevention programmes, lack of knowledge about HIV and STIs, and internalised homonegativityⁱ [28, 35].

Rationale for a European guidance

Epidemiological, policy and response data on the situation of HIV and STI among MSM in the EU/EEA indicate that there is margin for improvement with regard to knowledge and service provision for this population in Europe. Enhanced targeted efforts are needed to address and reduce the burden of HIV and STIs and to improve the quality of sexual health among MSM in the EU/EEA.

This document is intended to complement global HIV prevention guidance, such as the WHO guidelines on prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections among MSM and transgender people, and the comprehensive guidelines on prevention among key populations [36, 37], while providing additional information on STI and hepatitis and including regionally-specific guidance, tailored to the European situation.



Figure 1. HIV diagnoses attributed to MSM per 100 000 male population, EU/EEA, 2013

ⁱ negative attitude towards homosexuality or homosexual persons

Aim and target audience

This guidance aims to support EU/EEA Member States in their efforts to reduce HIV and STI incidence and morbidity among MSM. To achieve this, the guidance details a comprehensive list of evidence-based actions to help guide national and sub-national policy makers and programme implementers in the EU/EEA Member States on their HIV and STI prevention and health promotion activities among MSM. The guidance may also be useful for NGOs, advocacy organisations and other actors working with MSM in the fields of sexual health and disease prevention.

This guidance targets the prevention of HIV and other STIs, including chlamydia, gonorrhoea, and syphilis. Hepatitis A, B, and C are also addressed. The target group for prevention is MSM, including all men who have had or may have any kind of sexual relations with another man. Sub-groups of MSM have different preventive needs and different possibilities to access and use prevention. In this guidance the specific prevention needs of HIVinfected MSM are also addressed. While this document is based on reviews of evidence for cis-menⁱ who have sex with men, some of the recommendations may be valid for transgender men having sex with men. The comprehensive needs of transgender women and MSM who inject drugs and are not thoroughly addressed in this guidance but other guidance documents [36, 38] address the needs of these groups (Annex 2).

ⁱ Cis-men refers to persons born biologically male who self-identify as male

Guidance development

This guidance was developed through systematic reviews of scientific literature, combined with consultation of a multidisciplinary group of public health, clinical and prevention experts from across the European region [39].

Evidence base

Systematic reviews of peer-reviewed literature that addressed efficacy of HIV and STI interventions among MSM were performed on the interventions listed in Annex 1. The process involved exhaustive search strategies to search multiple scientific databases as well as the World Health Organization and UNAIDS databases. The final step was grading the evidence by applying the Highest Attainable Standard of Evidence (HASTE) grading system.

First, a small expert team identified an exhaustive list of safe sex/risk reduction strategies and HIV and STI preventive interventions to guide the search process. Interventions that had been well-reviewed such as HIV treatment efficacy for individual health, or vaccine efficacy, were not reviewed, rather global guidelines on these topics are referred to. For those strategies which were considered, efforts were made to make an inclusive list, ranging from individual strategies such as condom use to newer biomedical interventions such as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). As a next step, 'PICO questions' were developed and agreed. PICO-questions are formulated around four components: Population (P), Intervention (I), control/comparison group (C) and Outcome (O). Their purpose was to assist in formulating specific and adequate searches of medical literature in relation to a given question. Hence PICO-questions were formulated to identify studies of any design that examined an individual strategy or an intervention in the MSM population, in relation to the outcomes: prevalence or incidence of HIV or STIs; self-reported episodes of unprotected anal sex; condom use; or self-reported HIV, STI or hepatitis diagnosis [40]. The review prioritised articles of systematic reviews; when no systematic reviews were found, individual studies were included. The searches generated 5 487 publications, out of which 47 were included in the final evidence review. Studies were included based on their fulfilling the inclusion criteria, as formulated by the PICOquestions. Since implementation data was also of interest, a broad interpretation of 'control/comparison group' was applied. Further details on the methodology of this review are available in the accompanying review of the evidence [39].

The evidence retrieved from the included studies was evaluated by way of the grading instrument HASTE, i.e. the Highest Attainable Standard of Evidence [41]. The HASTE grading builds upon the GRADE system, and takes into account three categories that are given equal weight: efficacy data; implementation science data; and biological and public health plausibility, which makes it specifically useful for analysing public health evidence [42]. A quality assessment was done on all included studies, and taken into account in the HASTE grading. Levels of evidence are described in Table 1.

Grade Level		Strength of evidence	Explanation
Grade 1		Strong	 High plausibility Efficacy is consistent Large body of consistent implementation data
Grade 2	Grade 2a	Conditional - Probable	 Plausibility Limited efficacy data Consistently effective from implementation data
	Grade 2b	Conditional - Possible	 Plausibility Limited or inconsistent efficacy data Limited or paucity of implementation data*
	Grade 2c	Conditional - Pending	PlausibilityOngoing efficacy trials
Grade 3		Insufficient	 Undefined plausibility Inconsistent data Inconsistent or paucity of implementation data
Grade 4		Inappropriate	 Consistent data demonstrating lack of efficacy Consensus from implementation data of inappropriate intervention

Table 1. HASTE grading criteria used to assess the strength of evidence

Adapted with permission from Baral et al [41]. Modified to add paucity of implementation data to grade 2b

Expert consultations

To complement the review of the evidence and grading process, expert opinions were integrated into the development of the guidance in three steps. First, an initial expert meeting was held in March 2013 to discuss aims and purpose, core values, initial results from the evidence, policy reviews and proposed format of the guidance. In the second step, the draft document was sent to experts for a written consultation in December 2013. Finally, after taking the expert comments and opinions into account, a second consultation meeting was held in January 2014 to discuss and approve the text of the evidence and findings.

A summary of HASTE grading plus expert opinion per intervention is available in Annex 1 and in the associated systematic review of the literature [39]. This information is also included under each component.

Values and principles

The expert group recommended that the guidance include a section entitled 'values and principles for service provision', referring to the underlying factors needed in order for the key components of public health services to be effective. These values and principles were formulated through discussion in the expert group and are supported by non-systematic review of the published literature, including qualitative studies.

Values and principles of service provision

The tenets of service provision presented in this section are based on fundamental principles of public health and ethics, combined with substantial experience in service implementation [43]. These were developed with public health and human rights perspectives in mind and focus on MSM. These core values were based on expert opinion and should be seen as the foundation of the key interventions presented in this guidance.

Programmes and services should be planned and implemented in the spirit of these core values to achieve maximum impact moving towards the 'best sex with least harm' for MSM. As an underlying principle, HIV prevention and sexual health promotion should thus recognise the right of sexual minorities to pursue a satisfying sexual life. Without concurrent efforts to decrease discrimination and homonegativity in the political, legal, social, cultural and religious environment, the services suggested below will be of limited effect. The physical and emotional impact of living in a discriminatory and homonegative society reduces MSM's capacity to adopt health-promoting and protective attitudes and behaviours [44]. All prevention targeted at MSM should therefore be based on respect for the target group.

Structural barriers limit access to sexual health, HIV and STI prevention

Structural factors such as criminalisation of same sex practices, societal stigma and hetero-normative policies create barriers for MSM to access prevention and healthcare services [35, 43, 45]. Providing an enabling environment through appropriate legal rights, social, economic, political and environmental factors is the essential backbone needed for national prevention programmes targeting MSM to succeed [44]. Laws and policies either promote or decrease the ability of a country to enable sexual health among MSM. When disclosure of one's sexual identity or behaviour is associated with repercussions, consequences to sexual health are severe. Structural barriers are also inherent to many STI services, where access is limited or where appropriate diagnostics are not performed [32].

Disease prevention and health promotion will be most effective in a non-discriminatory climate, where persons are treated with respect regardless of their sexual identity.

A recent survey of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender persons in the EU found that the proportion of respondents who felt discriminated against or harassed in the last 12 months on the grounds of their sexual orientation was on average 47% (ranging between 30% in the Netherlands and 61% in Latvia). One-quarter of respondents reported that they had been attacked or threatened with violence due to their sexual orientation in the previous five years [34]. The promotion of sexual health and rights, while increasing awareness of stigma around homosexuality and how this affects MSM, can create a tolerant climate where men feel safe, thereby promoting the uptake of health promotion and disease prevention services. Addressing and debunking myths and misconceptions and promoting non-judgmental attitudes are central features of de-stigmatising efforts, and contribute to the creation of a non-stigmatising, MSM-friendly environment both within community and health services and in society as a whole.

Empowerment and participation of the target population in planning and carrying out activities is key to their success.

The ultimate and most effective means of empowering MSM in response to the threat of HIV and other STIs is to ensure their participation in all aspects of prevention interventions. In countries with a coordinated prevention program of several decades' history, civil society organisations led and governed by gay men now play the central role in implementation. In places where public health and other government officials are in sole charge of prevention programmes, participation depends on their opportunities and openness to involve MSM through advisory groups, committees, focus groups and surveys. It is important to acknowledge that in most settings there is not one 'MSM community' and that those populations that are most vulnerable and at-risk for HIV and STIs may be most difficult to engage in empowerment or participatory activities.

Key components of public health programmes to address HIV and STIs among MSM

Based on the scientific evidence available and supported by expert opinion, the following key components are suggested to be considered for inclusion in national and sub-national public health programmes. These aim to effectively prevent and reduce HIV and STI transmission among MSM and to address the needs of MSM who are living with HIV.

Material provision of

- **Vaccinations:** Promote and deliver vaccination to protect against hepatitis A and B. Consider vaccination for HPV.
- Condoms: Provide easily accessible condoms and condom-compatible lubricants and promote their effective use.
- **HIV and STI testing**: Provide voluntary and confidential HIV counselling and testing via a variety of modalities that are easy to access for the target group including routine offering of tests in clinic, outreach and community-based settings. Offer STI screening including anal/penile inspection and adequate diagnostics (e.g. sampling of urethra, pharynx and rectum and blood). Voluntary partner referral can support the early diagnosis and treatment of contacts.
- **Treatment:** Timely provision of antiviral treatment of HIV, hepatitis B and C according to individual needs and national or international clinical guidelines should be ensured. Provide targeted antibiotic treatment for other STIs. The preventive benefits of treatment are significant.

Counselling and messages to provide

• **Health promotion:** Provide accurate and accessible information that enables men to understand and assess sexual health-related risks and prevention efficacy, and that promotes awareness of one's own HIV status. Health promotion could take place in counselling sessions, peer support groups, and outreach interventions for MSM as well as by targeted information provision to promote sexual health among MSM.

Delivery of interventions

- MSM-competent health services: MSM-competent points of care offering a comprehensive sexual health
 programme including health promotion, counselling, peer support, prevention, adequate diagnostics and
 treatment will increase service uptake. Design and implementation of services should be organised with
 target group involvement. At any health facility that targets sexual health there should be training for
 providers on how to offer comprehensive care for MSM.
- **Targeted care for MSM living with HIV:** Provide antiretroviral treatment for HIV and vaccinations based on current guidelines and clinical judgement to all men in need; offer and supply regular STI screening (including syphilis, gonorrhoea, hepatitis C and LGV testing if positive for chlamydia) using adequate diagnostics; provide treatment for STIs including hepatitis B and C. Offer individual counselling, sexual health promotion and peer-support groups.

Combine key components to achieve synergy

No single intervention will be enough to curb HIV or STI transmission if applied on its own [46]. Combination prevention, offering packages of interventions, will have a synergistic effects in reducing HIV and STI transmission [47]. Combinations of the suggested key interventions should be offered to MSM in order to achieve synergy and the highest levels of effectiveness. Prevention needs and preferences of MSM vary by individual and over time. Offering and implementing prevention packages in collaboration with the target group, or where appropriate, by the target group, is crucial to the success of national and sub-national prevention programmes [48].

Seven key components of public health programmes to address HIV and STIs among men who have sex with men

Vaccinations

Promote and deliver vaccination to protect against hepatitis A and B. Consider vaccination for HPV.

Hepatitis A and B vaccination

A three-dose course of hepatitis B vaccination (at 0, 1 and 6 months) provides 95% long-term protection against hepatitis B and is recommended by WHO to be part of child vaccination programmes [49]. Childhood hepatitis B vaccination has been implemented in most but not all European countries [50, 51]. According to self-reported data from EMIS, 40% of MSM in Europe are in need of hepatitis B vaccination, largely irrespective of age. In many countries the proportion is substantially higher [28]. Therefore, better access to hepatitis B vaccination is a crucial prevention measure for MSM in Europe.

Outbreaks of hepatitis A have occurred among MSM within the EU, associated with faecal-oral contact during sex and also with sex at saunas [11-14]. Given this, a combination vaccine for both hepatitis A and B is suggested for adults as a catch-up vaccination for MSM in need. Vaccination against both hepatitis A and B has been shown to be safe and have a high efficacy. Information on vaccine availability should be included in health promotion programmes targeting MSM.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Provision of hepatitis A and B vaccination	Vaccine efficacy	Strong (1)	Recommended

HPV vaccination in male adolescents

HPV vaccination policies differ widely within the European setting, from inclusion in child vaccination programmes for all children, or only for girls, to no vaccination policy [51]. HPV Types 16 and 18 cause 80% of anal cancer and 66% of anal intraepithelial neoplasia cases among men [52]. Due to the high prevalence of HPV-related anal cancer seen in MSM, HPV vaccination is likely a valuable health promotion intervention for MSM and is specifically recommended for HIV-positive men by the European AIDS Clinical Society [53, 54]. This guidance suggests that countries consider HPV vaccination based on national guidelines and local epidemiological circumstances.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Provision of HPV vaccination	Vaccine efficacy to prevent anal intraepithelial neoplasia	5.()	Recommended as per national guidelines and local epidemiological circumstances.

Vaccinations for persons living with HIV

In addition to following national guidelines for vaccines for the healthy population, and the vaccinations recommended above, the European AIDS Clinical Society recommends that HIV-positive individuals receive the following vaccines: influenza (yearly), *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and Varicella Zoster Virus [54]. Some vaccines are contraindicated for persons with CD4 counts of less than 200 and because the immune response may be lower in HIV-positive persons, antibody titres are recommended to assess vaccines' effectiveness [54].

Intervention	Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Provision of additional vaccinations for people living with HIV (PLHIV)		Recommended, as per clinical judgement

Condoms

Provide easily accessible condoms and condom-compatible lubricants and promote their effective use.

Condoms and condom-compatible lubricant use

Condom use when having anal sex with a partner of unknown viral burden or infection status is a core component of HIV and STI prevention. Condoms prevent contact between semen and rectal mucosa, as well as between rectal fluid and the penile mucosa, thereby preventing the transmission of HIV. Condoms do not provide complete protection against all STIs as they reduce but do not always eliminate mucosal contact and smear infections.

Operational research also emphasises the importance of condom-compatible lubricant use (water- or silicon-based) during anal sex [55]. Lubricant use facilitates entry and prevents micro-tears in the rectum during anal sex as well as decreasing rates of condom breakage. Oil-based lubricants increase the risk of latex condom breakage and are not recommended in combination with condoms for anal sex [56, 57]. The importance of condom-compatible lubricant use needs to be taken into account as a part of condom promotion interventions for MSM, and preferably distributed through the same programmes. Sub-optimal lubricant use is common among MSM, and correct use of lubricant should be included in prevention messages [28].

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Condom use	HIV incidence	Strong (1)	Recommended
Condom-compatible lubricant use	Condom failure	Probable (2a)	Recommended

Condom distribution interventions aim to ensure that MSM have access to appropriate condoms when needed. Condoms are available for purchase online and in stores. In addition, community-based experience suggests that providing free condoms in settings were MSM frequent, ranging from venues such as saunas to health service centres for MSM, is preferable to condoms solely being available online and in stores [1]. Since the beginning of the HIV epidemic, civil society and other gay men's organisations in Europe have played a vital role by actively promoting condom use. The strong support for condom use as a key method of HIV/STI prevention facilitates continuous successful implementation of condom promotion and distribution programmes [36, 58].

Implementation advice

Condoms and condom-compatible lubricants should be widely available and combined with activities promoting effective condom use among MSM at risk of STIs including HIV. Condom and lubricant provision should be organised, and supplied in close collaboration with the target group and adapted to their needs. Free supply and promotion of condoms at, for example, sex venues (environments outside the home where men meet other men for casual, sometimes anonymous, sexual encounters) has been effective in some contexts [17]. Penile dimensions and corresponding condom fit, as well as men's perceptions of condom fit and feel should be addressed in sexual health encounters in order to minimise condom failure and to promote use. Non-latex condoms should be available for men with latex allergies.

Testing and screening for HIV and STIs

Provide voluntary and confidential HIV counselling and testing through a variety of ways that are easy to access for the target group, including outreach to the community, and routine offering of tests in clinics and community-based settings. Offer STI screening including anal/penile inspection and adequate diagnostics (e.g. sampling of urethra, pharynx and rectum and blood). Voluntary partner referral can support the early diagnosis and treatment of contacts.

Comprehensive screening for STIs

Regular comprehensive screening offered to asymptomatic MSM includes anal/penile inspection and sampling of the urethra, pharynx, rectum and blood for syphilis, gonorrhoea, chlamydia (and LGV if positive for chlamydia). Hepatitis B (for unvaccinated men) and C screening is performed as indicated by the individual risk or local epidemiological circumstances. Testing for Herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV-2) should also be performed if clinically indicated [59, 60]. These tests should preferably be performed in combination with HIV testing for men not yet diagnosed [61]. MSM living with HIV should be offered voluntary screening for hepatitis C and other STIs annually or more often if clinically indicated [54, 62].

Regular comprehensive STI screening among asymptomatic MSM can be implemented in combination with risk reduction counselling. Routine STI screening of asymptomatic individuals will reduce the period in which infected individuals might remain both untreated and unknowingly able to transmit the infection to others. Screening frequency for STIs should be decided according to individual risk assessment and local epidemiological circumstances. The use of rapid tests, which are progressively becoming widely available for some infections can increase test uptake, including among MSM [63], but quality standards for their use must be ensured. Adequate treatment according to national, regional or WHO guidelines should be offered to persons testing positive [64].

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Regular STI screening of asymptomatic MSM	STI incidence	Probable (2a)	Recommended

HIV testing

As with any medical test or investigation, individuals need to be able to make an informed decision about whether to undergo an HIV test. In services which target MSM, such as genitourinary medicine (GUM), STI or sexual health clinics, or primary care encounters, a brief risk assessment can be part of the pre-test discussion. Such services can be important places for identifying MSM who would benefit from the offer of a test and referral to other prevention services, counselling and support.

Knowledge of one's HIV status is crucial for access to antiretroviral therapy and HIV testing is thus recommended to be easily accessible and offered in an inclusive and non-discriminatory manner in order to be acceptable and accessible for MSM.

Current HIV testing coverage is not adequate in most settings in Europe and needs to be improved, so that all men who need testing can access it regularly. National UK guidance recommends at least annual HIV testing for MSM, and every three months for men having anal sex without a condom with new or multiple partners [65]. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guidelines recommend annual screening for MSM who themselves or whose sex partners have had more than one sex partner since their most recent HIV test [66]. This guidance suggests that individual counselling and mapping of risk behaviour should be used for individual recommendations around frequency of testing for HIV (and other STIs), but that annual testing for sexually active MSM would be a minimum suggested interval for testing.

In	ntervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
HI	IV testing	Condom use	Probable (2a)	Recommended

Counselling connected to HIV testing and models of HIV testing such as opt-out testing, community-based testing and self-sampling were not reviewed as stand-alone interventions specifically for this guidance, but are covered in previous ECDC guidance on HIV testing [67], and are briefly mentioned below in relation to options for increasing testing frequency and coverage among MSM.

Counselling connected to HIV testing: HIV counselling and testing refers to an integrated process in which individuals make an informed decision about undergoing an HIV test and provides a good occasion for reflection on their risk situation and health promotion. In situations where counselling is part of HIV testing, brief pre-test counselling or discussion carried out by a trained counsellor, covering the benefits of testing and the practical arrangements for taking the test and receiving results, has been shown to be acceptable and effective in helping to increase testing uptake [68].

Post-test counselling aims to help the individual to discuss their HIV status whether it be HIV negative or HIV positive. HIV testing and counselling should ideally emphasise individual risk assessment, and counsellors should be trained to address sexuality issues and allow for discussion of individual risk reduction strategies and sexual health promotion, irrespective of a positive or negative test result.

Opt-out HIV testing: In the opt-out testing approach, an HIV test is part of routine STI screening, and all clients are informed about HIV testing and are tested for HIV as a routine part of STI screening unless they decline. WHO and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS) recently published guidelines recommending provider-initiated opt-out screening in concentrated and low level epidemics at STI services and other health services for most at-risk populations [69]. Opting out is not a standard HIV testing strategy in Europe because routine comprehensive STI screening is not implemented in all European settings. However, there is a general trend towards recommending more routine HIV testing [70]. Potential benefits of opt-out are expansion of HIV testing, early diagnosis resulting in clinical benefit to the HIV-positive individual, and the reduction of HIV transmission [71].

The time taken for each patient is less for opt-out testing than for opt-in testing because extensive counselling and specific consent are not required. Cost-effectiveness of opt-out testing varies according to several factors, including HIV prevalence in the population to be screened (UK NICE guidelines recommend universal screening for all MSM, for all persons with an STI, and for all men in areas with HIV prevalence of more than 2 per 1 000 population) [65, 72, 73]. For opt-out testing to function well, mechanisms need to be in place to guard against the common concerns of lack of specific informed consent, a potential for coercive testing practices and lack of counselling services. Opt-out testing should be considered as part of comprehensive STI screening in settings where such an approach is culturally and legally acceptable.

Community-based testing: Rapid HIV testing and counselling in community settings delivered by trained staff or peers can increase the uptake of HIV testing among MSM and can reach populations of men that have previously not accessed HIV testing [74, 75]. MSM have also expressed preference for rapid testing over conventional testing in some European settings [76, 77]. Testing done in community settings such as testing centres located in easily accessible areas and at easily accessible times of day, or through outreach or mobile services, can allow easier access to and uptake of HIV testing services. Community-based testing services provide testing that is free or low-cost in an environment that is comfortable for difficult-to-reach groups. Community-based testing services can be delivered by trained peers, which can improve the uptake and acceptability of services for some MSM.

HIV self-sampling and self-testing: HIV self-sampling consists of a kit that allows a user to take a blood or saliva sample from themselves, post it to a testing lab and receive the result by phone, text or email. HIV self-testing implies that the patient would obtain a sample at his own convenience, such as an oral fluid swab, self-administer the test and then interpret the result. Some countries have approved or are in the process of approving the sale of self-testing kits for HIV. The United Kingdom became the first country to initiate sale of tests for home testing in April 2015. These kits will permit the individual to produce their own sample and run the test in their own home, with a result in 15 to 40 minutes. Self-testing might increase testing frequency due to test availability and easy access, but it requires careful quality assurance to minimise false negative and false positive results as well as well-defined pathways for accessing confirmatory testing and counselling in order to ensure linkage to care, and access to prevention and support [76, 78].

Voluntary and confidential partner referral

Partner referral is the process of identifying the contacts of a person with an infectious disease (index patient) and ensuring that they are aware of their exposure. For STIs, relevant contacts include those with whom the index patient has had sex with during the infectious period. The terms 'partner notification' or 'contact tracing' are often used interchangeably with partner referral. The term is used here in its broadest sense, encompassing both patient and provider referral. A key component for all forms of partner referral is that it must be voluntary and confidential. In some settings in Europe, due to patient confidentiality issues and practice, this approach is not widely-accepted, while in others this is legislated and not strictly voluntary. Where implemented in Europe, acceptability, defined as willingness of index patients to notify their partners, is broad [79, 80]. No efficacy study could be identified that reported on the impact of contact tracing on UAI or HIV/STI incidence. The possibility that partner referral could reduce HIV/STI incidence is biologically plausible but might be restrained by implementation barriers. The International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections (IUSTI) has included the importance of performing partner referral in current patient management guidelines for STI [81]. Partner referral is usually recommended as part of the essential package of HIV, STI and hepatitis prevention measures, and can support the early diagnosis and treatment of contacts. Implementation modes can vary [82].

The preferred method to notify partners for the majority of MSM is direct person-to-person notification [83]. Online surveys also report broad acceptance of internet partner notification by some MSM, regardless of HIV serostatus, including willingness to receive an e-mail if they had been exposed to an STI or to initiate a notification e-mail [80, 84, 85]. If implemented, partner referral should be done on a non-coercive basis within enabling and supportive social and legal environments for disclosure.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Voluntary anonymous partner referral	HIV incidence		Recommended, in situations where participation is both voluntary and anonymous

Implementation advice

Testing for HIV and other STIs should not be limited to health facilities but promoted and offered, where possible, in community-based settings by persons that have appropriate training, and quality and infection control standards in place. Informed consent should always be ensured and documented but does not have to include signed written consent. In some services, pre-test discussion has been replaced with written information in order to free up resources to provide testing to more people. This is in line with other medical investigations and is part of the normalisation of HIV and STI testing. A detailed sexual history is not always required before offering a test. However, in settings where sexual health is within the scope of the services, a brief risk assessment or more extensive pre-test counselling focusing on risk reduction strategies is indicated, e.g. in case of frequent risk exposure this should always be available and staff should know how to refer to skilled counsellors.

Treatment provision

Timely provision of antiviral treatment of HIV, hepatitis B and C according to individual needs and national or international clinical guidelines should be ensured. Provide targeted antibiotic treatment for other STIs. The preventive benefits of treatment are significant.

STI, HIV and hepatitis treatment should be offered following a positive diagnosis based on an appropriate test, and in relation to clinical guidelines. In the absence of national guidelines, regional guidelines produced by IUSTI, the European Association on the Study of the Liver (EASL), and the European AIDS Clinical Society (EACS) [54] or global guidelines [37] could be useful. Correct and specific treatment is crucial to benefit the health of the individual and to hinder further transmission.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Treatment for HIV, hepatitis B and C, and other sexually transmitted diseases	Efficacy not reviewed for guidelines are referred	J	Recommended

Bacterial STIs should be treated with targeted antibiotic treatment in accordance with national clinical guidelines. Due to widespread availability of diagnostic tools including rapid tests and in order to reduce drug resistance, syndromic management is not recommended for STI treatment. National treatment guidelines, particularly for gonorrhoea, should be reviewed regularly due to changing resistance patterns. The IUSTI treatment guidelines are regularly updated based on the latest epidemiological and microbiological data [86].

Antiviral treatment for hepatitis C or herpes simplex virus should also be provided as per national or regional (EASL and IUSTI) clinical guidelines. There is good evidence that early treatment of hepatitis C is more desirable, and new direct-acting antiviral treatment regimens are highly effective.

HIV should be treated with antiretroviral treatment in accordance with national or European clinical guidelines. Antiretroviral therapy initiated when CD4 counts fall to 500 or lower is recommended in recent WHO treatment guidelines together with a recommendation to offer treatment immediately to individuals in discordant relationships [37]. Early results from the START study, a randomised controlled trial of 4 600 participants set up to evaluate whether there is a clinical and public health benefit in starting treatment immediately after establishing the presence of infection, demonstrated that starting treatment early is superior to waitingⁱ.

It should be emphasised that the main benefit and primary reason for offering HIV treatment to an individual is for their individual health benefit. However, it is important to explain to patients, and to consider in public health programmes, that treatment has been shown to be beneficial both to individual health and in decreasing the risk of transmission to the individual's partner(s). The sexual transmission of HIV from an HIV-positive person to their partner is correlated with concentrations of HIV in the genital tract and genital fluids [87], which is the mechanism for how combination antiretroviral treatment (ART) reduces sexual transmission of HIV. Studies evaluating HIV transmission were carried out mostly on heterosexual HIV-discordant couples and have shown that treatment of persons with HIV can reduce the risk of sexual transmission of HIV to their partner by over 90% [87, 88]. The interim results of the PARTNER study, which included MSM discordant couples, so far confirmed these findings for the MSM population by not detecting any episodes of linked HIV transmission from men infected with HIV and a viral load below the limit of detection [89]. It has been estimated that the majority of HIV transmissions among MSM in UK settings occur before the positive partner is diagnosed [29]. Therefore, the main efforts for effective HIV prevention and care programmes in EU/EEA settings will be focused on achieving high and regular testing frequency for those MSM most at-risk and facilitating treatment access and adherence to treatment among those who are tested positive.

ⁱ International Network for Strategic Initiatives in Global HIV Trials (2015) http://insight.ccbr.umn.edu/start/

Intervention	Outcome	Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
HIV treatment as prevention	HIV incidence	Strong (1)	Recommended, stressing that the primary reason for treatment should be for the good of the individual HIV-positive man in need of treatment

Implementation advice

Treatment of HIV, STIs, and hepatitis B and C should be integrated and delivered at MSM-competent points of care as well as at general clinics. ART can also be used, with high efficacy, to provide pre- and post-exposure prophylaxis.

Post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP): Post-exposure ARV-based prophylaxis is approved for use in Europe and should be started as soon as possible after HIV risk exposure, but always within 48–72 hours [54, 90]. Treatment should be continued for 28 days, unless the source individual is determined to be HIV negative. PEP has consistently been shown to reduce HIV transmission in animal studies [91, 92] and was originally introduced to reduce transmission following needle stick injuries. For ethical reasons no RCT has been conducted. Observational studies show consistent protection, but of various degrees [93]. Apart from occupational PEP and PEP in situations of sexual assault, in most countries PEP is also recommended to individuals having had anal intercourse without a condom with partner of unknown HIV serostatus, seeking care within 48–72 hours [54, 90]. The most common use of non-occupational PEP is in discordant couples (where the index partner is not on ART) due to condom breakage or failure. United States and most European guidelines also specifically include individuals having had unprotected receptive anal intercourse with a homosexual or bisexual man of unknown HIV-status as eligible for PEP [54, 90, 94]. Since antiretroviral medication also carries a risk of adverse events, individual benefit of PEP needs to be weighed against risks, and in countries where PEP is available, it is a clinical decision based on individual benefit, rather than a strict guideline-based measure.

PEP has not been associated with an increase in high-risk sexual behaviour among MSM, and has rarely been promoted as a main prevention method to the MSM population [93, 95]. Awareness of PEP and perceived access to PEP is low among MSM in most European countries, indicating that PEP is not a first-line prevention intervention. A Danish study showed only a modest increase in requests for PEP despite having a PEP-knowledgeable MSM population and easy access to the treatment [96]. A study evaluating Amsterdam's PEP programme found a similar trend of a very modest increase in PEP requests, however 75% of requests were from MSM. In EMIS, less than 2% of respondents in 26 of the 38 countries included reported ever having accessed PEP; the remaining countries reported slightly higher use, with respondents in France reporting the highest use, still only 9% [28]. The low use of PEP in most European settings could be explained by low awareness or low perceived needs. Access is also an important issue and in the 2010 EMIS survey, about one-third of European countries reported that PEP could not be accessed for free [28].

There is a large variation across Europe with respect to how often PEP is considered and prescribed for HIV prevention. MSM who are exposed to HIV – regardless of the reason for exposure – have a right to be informed about all potential interventions, including knowledge about what PEP is and where it can be obtained. EMIS findings suggest that condom accidents and a consistent lack of knowledge on how to use condoms correctly, rather than carelessness, are associated with exposure to HIV and related experience of PEP [28].

This guidance suggests that knowledge about PEP should be promoted to MSM and that PEP should be provided at clinics targeting MSM or sexual health where feasible. PEP should be offered to MSM having had sex without a condom with a HIV positive partner of unknown viral load status, and additionally to MSM who have had receptive anal sex with a partner of unknown HIV status and who seek care within 48–72 hours.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP)	HIV incidence	Probable (2a)	Recommended

Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): PrEP is a method to reduce the risk of HIV infection in HIV-negative adults who are at high risk of HIV exposure. The treatment includes the use of oral antiretrovirals in order to prevent the virus from establishing a permanent infection [97]. Detectable drug levels in the blood strongly correlated with the prophylactic effect, emphasising the importance of adherence to PrEP [98].

The final results of the extension of a large clinical trial (iPrEX OLE) conducted among MSM and transgender women showed that good adherence to PrEP was associated with a risk reduction of 84% for HIV infection [99]. While it was expected that open-label, non-trial use of PrEP might result in lower efficacy, the UK PROUD trial of 545 MSM randomised to immediate or deferred daily PrEP arms, found an 86% reduction among men in the immediate PrEP arm, and equal rates of rectal STIs and high condom use in both groups throughout the course of the trial, indicating that men had incorporated PrEP into existing risk reduction in HIV infection among MSM taking intermittent PrEP (two tablets 2–24 hours before sex, one tablet 24 hours later, and one tablet 48 hours subsequent to the first dose) as compared to the placebo arm [101]. High efficacy was achieved despite the fact that only 43% of MSM reported taking PrEP optimally during their last intercourse [101].

These studies provide strong evidence on the efficacy of PrEP and indicate that serious consideration should be given to its inclusion in the 'HIV prevention toolbox', especially for those MSM most at risk of acquiring infection. WHO has included a new recommendation on the use of PrEP in MSM as an additional prevention choice within a comprehensive HIV prevention package, in the consolidated guidelines for HIV prevention, released in July 2014 [37]. The US has recommended it since 2012, although implementation in many areas has been slower than anticipated.

A number of scientific and practical questions remain regarding PrEP which will need to be addressed as European countries begin to implement PrEP outside of trial settings. First, the medication used for PrEP (Truvada) is, as of mid-2015, only approved in the EU to treat HIV infection, not for prophylactic use, although this is expected to change in the future. The cost-effectiveness of PrEP in the long term requires further investigation although the event-based use of PrEP, as deployed in the Ipergay study may offer the prospect of reducing costs. In addition, the longer term potential risk of developing drug-resistance, if breakthrough infection occurs, must also be considered. The potential impact of PrEP on condom use and STI acquisition will also need to be carefully monitored.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)	HIV incidence		Recommended, Implementation considerations need revisiting as PrEP expands outside of trial settings in Europe

Health promotion

Provide accurate and accessible information that enables men to understand and assess sexual healthrelated risks and prevention efficacy, and that promotes awareness of one's own HIV status. Health promotion could take place in counselling sessions, peer support groups and outreach interventions as well as by targeted information provision to support sexual health among MSM.

Health promoting interventions aim to increase knowledge and skills to enable MSM to maximise their sexual health and well-being. Historically, such programmes have promoted decreased sexual risk taking by supporting increased condom use, HIV and STI-testing among MSM.

Health promotion programmes have also addressed the effects of alcohol or drug use on sexual decision-making. In some settings, including the UK, gay men have been known to use drugs, especially stimulants, more than the general population [102]. The use of drugs preceding or during the sexual session (referred to as 'Chemsex' or 'Party and Play') has received significant media attention and is, by some accounts, increasing in parts of Europe, although robust data are lacking. Health promotion can address harm reduction with regard to drug and alcohol use, can screen for problem drug and alcohol use, and can provide or link to MSM-competent drug or alcohol services when needed.

ⁱ This review was carried out and grading performed prior to release of UK PROUD Study (McCormack et al, CROI 2015) and Ipergay (Molina et al CROI 2015) studies. Taking these into account, the strength of evidence and recommendation for PrEP would increase further.

Information and awareness-raising through campaigns or ongoing messaging

Public information targeting MSM but also accessible to the general population can help achieve higher awareness about specific health needs among MSM. Since there are MSM who do not identify as gay or who do not access MSM-specific venues, it is important that this information covers a wide range of crucial health messages (examples of health messages that may be relevant for some MSM in some settings could include: 'get vaccinated', 'get tested often, at least yearly', 'Get STIs treated', 'intercourse is not compulsory', 'use condoms and water-based lubricant for anal sex', 'it's ok to decline some partners', 'Consider sharing your status'). These messages should appear in traditional media as well as the internet and social media. Messaging should focus on key health issues to promote sexual health among MSM¹. Many organisations also do extensive work to promote information through social media, posters at sex venues, updates on Wikipedia or other sources, or leaflets at testing facilities. Campaigns to promote gay, lesbian, transgender equality can also be included under this broad category and there is evidence that such campaigns, targeting the general population, can result in reduced stigma and homonegativity.

Intervention	Outcome	Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Social marketing media campaigns	Uptake of HIV testing	Probable (2b)	Recommended
Internet-based HIV prevention messages	UAI	Possible (2b)	Recommended
Campaigns for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans equality	Self-reported stigma towards LGBTI	Pending (2c)	Recommended

Counselling HIV-negative MSM

Trained counsellors (peer or non-peer) meet face to face with MSM at risk for contracting HIV infection to provide information and discuss strategies for reducing and mediating HIV and STI risk. The contents of these meetings may vary by intervention, but mainly rely on addressing individual drivers of risk that would facilitate behaviour change such as increased condom use, knowing partners' HIV status, and the identification of problem alcohol or drug use [1]. As PrEP becomes more available in Europe, those who are HIV-negative and at high risk of HIV and STI exposure can be provided information and counselling about PrEP for HIV, and about the importance of regular HIV and STI screening.

Health promotion theories including social cognitive theory, the trans-theoretical model of change, or the information motivational-behavioural skills model can guide the approach to HIV and STI counselling. However, providing one-off counselling interventions in isolation may be insufficient to influence behaviour over time, and such interventions can benefit from being combined with offering HIV/STI testing and support groups. Counselling addresses behaviour and sexuality, and will include strategies for reducing risk as well as provide information regarding HIV/STIs, testing and treatment. There is significant peer experience of HIV/STI counselling among MSM in Europe. It is suggested to combine counselling with referral to or from other services when appropriate, including: prevention, testing and treatment.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Individual counselling for MSM	UAI	Possible (2b)	Recommended

Peer activities

Community and peer involvement is crucial to health promotion. Peers are popular opinion leaders who promote health-promoting behaviours within a defined community. They are more likely to influence peer norms since they are seen as credible and non-judgmental role models. Critical peer attributes such as age, identity, HIV status, socio-economic background, migrant or ethnic minority background and sex work, may be important characteristics that will help peers more effectively reach certain groups of MSM.

ⁱ A separate report providing more information on creating a communication strategy and key messages for HIV and STI prevention among MSM is being produced by ECDC

Peer support groups

Peer support groups have been widely used and have been shown to be both acceptable and feasible among MSM. In peer support groups, HIV/STI prevention messages are communicated by trained peers to a group of individuals. Such sessions aim to promote a specific behaviour (for example, condom use, adherence to treatment) through the individuals participating as well as by making use of group dynamics. Group discussions take advantage of the influence of peers to foster the behaviour of interest by creating norms around, for example condom use. Peer outreach workers are often popular opinion leaders that are more likely to influence the behaviour of their peers since they are seen as credible and non-judgmental role models [103]. Acceptability is improved by the involvement of peers and by creating enabling environments [104].

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Peer-led group interventions	UAI	Strong (1)	Recommended

Peer outreach activities

Peer outreach activities typically involve other MSM who are able to influence and support members of the same group to maintain healthy sexual behaviours and to positively influence group norms. Peer outreach activities can take place online, off-line and via mobile phone apps. Peer outreach activities have been shown to be effective across a number of countries and income levels and, in one systematic review, were associated with a 30% reduction in UAI compared with minimal or no HIV prevention [105]. If adequately resourced and well planned, community-based peer interventions have the capacity to reach individuals who would not normally participate in facility-based interventions.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Peer outreach	UAI	Strong (1)	Recommended

Implementation advice

Community-based peer outreach interventions have the capacity to reach people who would not participate in facility-based interventions and who might be at higher risk than many who enrol in small groups or individual interventions. The effectiveness of the intervention may be attenuated with time and therefore offering boosters might be important to sustain behaviour change [106]. To be feasible and scalable, peer outreach requires sufficient resources, intensity of the intervention, cultural competence, and a basis in behavioural and social science theory. Peer leaders need on-going training monitoring, support, and sometimes incentives to avoid high attrition rates.

Deliver MSM-competent health services

MSM-competent points of care offering a comprehensive sexual health programme including health promotion, counselling, peer support, prevention, adequate diagnostics, and treatment will increase service uptake. Design and implementation of services should be organised with target group involvement. At any health facility that targets sexual health, there should be training for providers on how best to offer comprehensive care for MSM.

MSM-competent points of care

The term MSM-competent refers to health services that are specifically dedicated to MSM but may include more general services that are competent in providing care to MSM. Like all persons, MSM require care and commitment from healthcare providers. In addition, it is critical that healthcare providers are aware of specific health risks and needs of MSM and address sexual health-related needs in a non-judgmental manner. Health needs include sexual and mental health, and in certain situations substance use. MSM-competent health services offer comprehensive care and are sensitive to the specific needs of MSM, thus reducing barriers that cause men not to seek care or to disclose relevant personal information once in care. MSM-competent points of care can ensure that MSM can access safe and non-stigmatising health services. In some European countries, community-based projects providing professional services and peer support (by gay men for gay men) have had success in achieving high client satisfaction – thereby ensuring better uptake, follow-up and compliance. Examples of this include community-based HIV testing 'checkpoints' in Barcelona, Athens, and elsewhere throughout Europe.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
MSM-competent clinics	No intervention studies found	Pending (2c)	Recommended

Training for healthcare providers in providing comprehensive care for MSM

Specific education and training is needed for healthcare providers to build their awareness and effectiveness when dealing with the specific prevention and health needs of MSM. Some MSM have unique healthcare needs because of societal stigma related to homosexuality and gender non-conformity, which is associated with higher reported rates of depression, anxiety, substance use, and other adverse health outcomes as well as a risk of increased sexual risk taking [107–109]. Providers need to be knowledgeable about health disparities affecting MSM in their specific setting, and the best ways to provide competent care in order to optimise their MSM patients' health and well-being. With adequate education and training, health professionals will not only provide more appropriate routine care for their MSM patients but also help patients avoid internalisation of stigma associated with homosexuality, access healthcare to prevent HIV and other STI acquisition, and to support patients in achieving better sexual health with less harm [108]. The inclusion of professional gay care providers into respective health care settings has helped to improve gay-competent care in many EU Member States. Training should be regular, up-to-date and should be aimed at providing information on HIV and STIs, information on testing, referral pathways, and clinical management/stigma.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Training for healthcare providers to offer comprehensive care for MSM	No intervention studies found	Pending, Grade (2c)	Recommended

Implementation advice

MSM-competent points of care are best developed by or at least in close collaboration with the target community to better design and address service delivery. Peer-support groups available for both HIV-positive and HIV-negative MSM achieve good results in relation to promoting sexual health and infection prevention behaviours. MSM-competent points of care will benefit from linking to the community and integrating peer-support into their services. Similarly, training for healthcare providers at clinics addressing sexual health and general practices, needs to be developed in close collaboration with the community in order to adequately address stigma and specific needs relevant to local national circumstances.

Targeted care for HIV-positive MSM

Provide antiretroviral treatment for HIV and vaccinations based on current guidelines and clinical judgement to all men in need. Offer and supply regular STI screening (including syphilis, gonorrhoea, hepatitis C and LGV testing if positive for chlamydia) using adequate diagnostics. Provide treatment for STIs including hepatitis B and C. Offer individual counselling, sexual health promotion and peer-support groups.

Treatment

As detailed in the treatment section, antiretroviral therapy for HIV started at CD4 counts of 500 or lower is recommended in the current WHO treatment guidelines [64] for all persons diagnosed with HIV, including MSM. Recent START trial results may lead to still earlier treatment initiation in many European settings. In the same guidelines, it is also recommended that individuals in a sexual relationship with a discordant partner should be offered immediate treatment irrespective of CD4 count. This decision should be made by the informed individual, including their negative partner where the patient agrees. Willingness to start treatment will depend on the individual's motivation and the healthcare provider's relationship with the patient. Benefits to the HIV-positive individual will include the health benefits of ART as well as the opportunity to decrease the risk of transmission of HIV to their HIV-negative partner(s).

Vaccinations

As described in the section on Vaccines, Influenza (yearly), *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and Varicella Zoster Virus vaccines are recommended to be offered to people living with HIV and certain precautions taken with regard to vaccinating when CD4 is below 200 [54].

Monitoring

Regular clinical monitoring of CD4 count and viral load should be offered. Annual or more frequent screening for STIs (including syphilis, gonorrhoea, hepatitis C, and LGV for those who are chlamydia positive) should be offered to MSM living with HIV. Initial screening for tuberculosis should be conducted and thereafter additional screening if suspected due to clinical concerns or if the patient lives in a high endemic area. Anal HPV screening and smear should be offered routinely or as clinically indicated. Treatment of STIs and viral hepatitis should be offered as needed and in accordance with national treatment guidelines. Additional information on the clinical care and monitoring guidelines for men living with HIV are provided by the European AIDS Clinical Society [54].

Counselling

Counselling for MSM living with HIV focuses on risk reduction, stigma and health promotion strategies. Minimising sex without condoms among MSM living with HIV can reduce their risk of acquiring other STIs, including hepatitis C. However practices such as 'slamming' (injecting drugs usually in conjunction with sex), snorting drugs, fisting or the use of group sex toys can transmit hepatitis C virus. MSM should be provided information on harm reduction if they are engaged in any of these behaviours. Counselling about other STIs is also important. STI acquisition may increase viral load and accelerate disease progression for untreated HIV infection and can increase discomfort and impact on sexual satisfaction [110]. Counselling may support men by reducing stigma and introducing risk and harm reduction strategies [111, 112]. Counselling for MSM living with HIV should be a part of care programs both as an immediate post-test counselling service, and also as a longer-term service to people living with HIV in addition to support groups. Its intensity and content should be adapted to the needs and preferences of the target group locally.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Counselling for MSM living with HIV	UAI	Probable grade (2a)	Recommended

Peer support groups

Support groups for MSM living with HIV are not equally prevalent across Europe, but these can be a useful way to address safer sex within a broader range of topics relevant for people living with HIV such as pathology of HIV, treatment effects and side effects, self-esteem building exercises, challenges in everyday life, stigma, mental and physical health. To improve acceptability, peer support groups can provide emotional support, facilitate physical support for symptomatic persons, and offer support that matches specific needs [113]. The involvement of peers might also improve acceptability of the intervention. Successful implementation of risk-reduction interventions for HIV-positive people requires removing barriers to discussing HIV-transmission risks and eliminating the social stigmas that preclude people from disclosing HIV status. Individual counselling and peer support groups offering theory-based interventions to enhance sexual health have shown significant reduction in sex without condoms [114]. Given the high potential effectiveness and potential health benefits, peer support among MSM living with HIV should be supported.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Peer-led group interventions targeting MSM living with HIV	UAI	Probable grade (2a)	Recommended

Implementation advice

MSM-competent service delivery points, as well as healthcare staff adequately trained to care for HIV-positive MSM will ensure better access to treatment, adherence and counselling services. They should support and acknowledge that HIV-positive MSM have sexual relationships and a right to a fulfilling sex life and should be offered specific support, including information regarding the benefits of antiretroviral treatment. Close collaboration with HIV-positive MSM active as peer supporters will contribute to ensuring that services are well-grounded in the needs of HIV-positive MSM. Viral load should be used as a clinical monitoring tool to measure the effectiveness of ART and its function and relationship to the infection should be emphasised. Experiences from clinical settings where patients get a chance to understand, follow and interpret their infective markers (CD4, viral load) are positive, and these patients seem likely to have optimal possibilities to internalise the needs for adherence to antiretroviral treatment and to adopt other preventive measures as needed.

Settings for health promotion interventions for MSM

While interventions can and do take place in a variety of settings across Europe, it is important to consider the particularities of the setting when determining the types of men to be reached and the types of interventions that are appropriate and feasible in that setting. Outside of healthcare and community HIV testing centres/checkpoints, there are some additional settings for reaching MSM in Europe. Given that a variety of interventions might take place using these settings, they are included here as additional settings in which the key recommended interventions might take place.

Sex venues

Sex venues include commercial venues such as saunas, sex clubs, night clubs, health clubs, adult movie houses, adult bookstores, backrooms of bars, etc. They can also include places within the public space, 'cruising zones', such as certain parks, beaches, alleys, restrooms or private venue sex parties [115–117]. A combination of interventions at these venues should offer one or all of the following services: health promotion, condoms and lubricant provision, and HIV/STI-testing, hepatitis A and B vaccination. Key programmatic considerations include building alliances with community agencies and strong relationship between owners of the commercial sex venues and implementers of the intervention.

Sex venue-based interventions have been effective in reaching MSM with high sexual risk and in testing men who have previously not been tested for HIV/STIs [118]. High acceptability rates have been reported among MSM in different contexts [119, 120]. Sex venues are an important environment to provide services to hard-to-reach MSM who may have a particularly high risk of HIV and STI acquisition and transmission [121].

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Sex venue-based interventions	UAI and uptake of HIV testing	Probable (2a)	Recommended

Internet and mobile phone-based interventions

While the internet or mobile-phone based applications are not physical intervention 'settings' they are increasingly important for HIV and STI prevention. The internet is now the most popular tool used by MSM to meet sexual partners [122]. It is increasingly common for MSM to meet their sexual partners online and available data indicate that persons with more use of online platforms tended to have higher partner numbers and more UAI [123, 124]. While the internet and mobile apps are increasingly key modalities through which to reach MSM, a 2015 ECDC-Terrence Higgins Trust project entitled 'Understanding the impact of smart phone applications on MSM sexual health and HIV/STI prevention in Europe' found that although the majority of HIV prevention organisations surveyed reported that they are doing prevention work online, only half reported that they are doing prevention work through mobile phone apps [102].

		Examples of types of tools/interventions
Examples of internet sites where interventions could take place	 Traditional webpages: from NGOs public health organisations, health care clinics, news, club owners etc. Facebook/other social media like Pinterest Wikipedia and forums General dating sites LGBTQ/MSM community sites and forums Porn sites 	 Pop-ups or push messages (informing about testing services, outbreaks in a specific area) Testing location services Editorial messages Peer-to-peer chat Chat with health providers Hashtags
Examples of mobile -based locations where interventions might take place	 Twitter/Instagram Mobile-adjusted webpages Apps like Grindr/Scruff SMS-reminder SMS-chat GPS/maps interventions 	 Provision of content to feed social media (infographics, blogs, photos, meme, videos, playlists, etc) Monitoring of social media, Wikipedia, news, etc.

Adapted with permission from: Nicklas Dennermalm, Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer Rights, Sweden

Delivering an effective intervention via the web or via a mobile application has many advantages. Importantly, it makes it possible to reach more people potentially increasing access to some populations of MSM who do not access other services [125]. Moreover, it affords individuals the opportunity to access the intervention confidentially, and potentially at critical moments when one is looking for new partners online. Some web- or mobile-based interventions require minimal staffing and can be easily replicated after development, while others require significant human resources and up-keep. Mobile-based HIV or STI testing reminder services, for example, are becoming more widely used by sexual health services in many countries. The internet and smart phone applications allow asynchronous communication, multiple ways to communicate, interactivity, customisation of contents, and flexibility [126]. Mobile phones or 'push notifications' can also be used to provide information or alerts to MSM about ongoing outbreaks in MSM in a specific geographic area (e.g. local cluster of syphilis). Interactive interventions can promote sexual health and provide individualised feedback while promoting active learning [127]. These programmes should be available directly to users and allow independent access without needing expert facilitation. Additional possible ways in which the internet and mobile phones might be used to promote sexual health among MSM are listed in Table 2.

Internet- and mobile phone-based interventions are a promising way in which to encourage and promote sexual health. However, so far efficacy data has been unclear, largely due to the lack of evaluation research carried out using internet- and mobile-phone based interventions. Different modes of internet and mobile-based interventions should be developed and evaluated for MSM in Europe.

Intervention		Strength of evidence (HASTE level)	Expert opinion
Internet-based HIV prevention messages	UAI	Possible (2b)	Recommended

Match effective interventions to specific prevention needs

It is not possible to suggest a 'one size fits all' approach to achieve the 'right' balance of services to meet the HIV and STI prevention needs of MSM across all settings in Europe. However, it was recommended by the expert group that national and local public health planners direct prevention services for MSM according to the analysis of well-founded epidemiological data, so that services are targeted at the appropriate scale to those geographical and risk populations most at risk of HIV and STI infection. Given the diversity of MSM across Europe, this will differ by setting. However, it is suggested that in many settings in Europe, a strong programmatic focus on men who are active in the gay scene (bars, nightclubs and other meeting venues including via mobile dating apps) and who have multiple sexual partners will have a strong preventive impact. In many settings, men who sell sex, migrant MSM, and MSM with problem drug use may have enhanced needs, as it is clear that men with overlapping vulnerabilities are likely to have higher HIV risk [4]. In many countries, young MSM may be at particular risk as they negotiate and establish sexual health behaviours. The delivery of prevention and sexual health promotion services for MSM should be based on mapping and interventions, tailored geographically and socio-demographically to where MSM in need are located. It is also key to find ways to work with multiple language platforms and addressing interventions and tools to MSM of migrant and ethnic minority groups if there is evidence of need.

Monitoring and evaluation of programmes

Monitoring and evaluation is an essential component of any comprehensive HIV and STI prevention programme. The need to monitor and evaluate HIV and STI programmes, at national and sub-national levels, is becoming increasingly important as many countries in the EU/EEA are facing challenges in sustaining their prevention efforts due to cuts in public health spending. When done properly, monitoring and evaluation should provide the data needed to assess overall programme performance as well as the performance of the various interventions which make up that programme. Monitoring and evaluation can also help stakeholders identify and understand the strengths and weaknesses as well as the successes and failures of a programme. Monitoring and evaluation is also essential in guiding resource allocation and ensuring that funds are directed to those interventions that are most likely to have the biggest impact on curbing the HIV epidemic.

Some European collaborative projects are providing key information for monitoring and evaluation of HIV and STI prevention programmes in the EU/EEA. The EMIS survey broke important new ground in collecting data that can be used to assess and improve HIV and STI prevention programmes [28]. As an internet-based survey, it was able to efficiently and cost-effectively collect a wide range of primary data from a significantly larger population base. Future surveys, such as a repeat EMIS, while expanding to ensure sampling from groups that are underserved by the internet, will be important to monitor and inform HIV and STI programmes for MSM in Europe. The SIALON II project is a bio-behavioural survey among MSM that was implemented in 13 EU countries collecting both behavioural and biological information using the same time-location sampling and respondent-driven sampling, according to the local context. Estimates of HIV, syphilis, hepatitis B and C prevalence and of the undiagnosed infections in the MSM population will be available during 2015. This will help the countries in monitoring the epidemic and at the same time provide them with relevant information on risk factors in the MSM population.

Given the potential impact of early diagnosis and treatment on the epidemic, strategies aimed at increasing access to testing and linkage to care, as well as promoting test seeking behavioural patterns among MSM are crucial and need to be monitored. European projects such as COBATEST, EUROEDAT, and OptTest are developing and testing indicators and data collection instruments (including prospective follow up of testing services users) specific for the MSM population.

Given the challenges of collecting useful data on HIV and STI prevention programmes, including the seven key interventions suggested in this report, it is important to consider a range of existing resources available internationally that present suggested indicators. These resources include:

- The European Men-Who-Have-Sex-With-Men Internet Survey [http://www.emisproject.eu/sites/default/files/public/publications/emis-2010, currences, mem.internet.currence.20, countries, up adfl.
- 2010_european_msm_internet_survey_38_countries_v5.pdf]
- Dublin Declaration on Partnership to Fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia: ECDC Questionnaire: MSM section
- UNAIDS Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting [http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/document/2014/GARPR_2014_guideline s_en.pdf]

It is acknowledged that very little data or existing monitoring of policies and programmes on the performance of STI and hepatitis programmes for MSM, or on the care received and quality of life of MSM living with HIV exists. These are areas for further development for monitoring and evaluation at the European level.

Implications for future research

There are several key areas in which robust data or evidence on the effectiveness of interventions for MSM is lacking and where additional documented implementation data from the European setting would be of added value to guide public health decision-making.

The systematic review of interventions among MSM performed to support this guidance, found that four of the 24 interventions reviewed could be assigned a HASTE grade 1, equal to strong evidence. Another four interventions could be assigned grade 2a, equal to probable evidence, while an additional seven interventions were assigned grade 2b, a possible recommendation [39]. This indicates that there remains a lack of robust efficacy and implementation data for a number of key interventions.

Future efficacy research in the European setting is recommended to inform HIV and STI prevention decisionmaking and programme planning in a number of areas including early initiation of ART, HPV vaccination for MSM, PEP, and voluntary anonymous partner notification, sex-venue based interventions, internet-based interventions, training for healthcare providers, and interventions that address alcohol and drug use. Additional documented implementation data on peer-led group interventions, social marketing interventions, and campaigns to reduce stigma would help guide programme design and increase the level of evidence for these intervention modalities.

In addition to the intervention areas mentioned, key questions remain with regard to the implementation of PrEP, including the cost-effectiveness across various settings in Europe, optimal care delivery models in various European settings, and the effect of PrEP on condom use and STI transmission/acquisition over the long term in a non-survey environment. These areas will need to be reviewed and considered in future updates of this guidance.

Increased understanding of the efficacy of mobile-phone/app based interventions as well as documented implementation data is needed. Greater qualitative and networks data from MSM using these applications in Europe would improve the understanding of the role of such apps in disease transmission and HIV and STI prevention, and their potential for the promotion of health and prevention of infections.

Finally, with regard to better understanding the epidemiological situation, additional data on hepatitis C prevalence among HIV-negative MSM would help guide testing recommendations. Consensus on size estimates for MSM populations in various settings in Europe, and better measurement of HIV and STI incidence, alongside behavioural data for MSM are needed in many settings in Europe. This information could help to plan preventive services and to better interpret HIV and STI case reporting data.

Conclusions

While prevention interventions for MSM have long been available in Europe in some form or another, in some settings they have been unevenly provided, poorly accessed and have relied on a relatively narrow range of interventions. To date, these have not been enough to substantially reduce the incidence of HIV and STIs among MSM in most settings in Europe.

Immediate and sustained attention to guaranteeing the scale-up of sustainable HIV and STI prevention structures for MSM is needed to enable and empower communities of men to access the services and information needed to maximise their sexual health and to reduce HIV and STI acquisition and transmission. In addition to the provision of the combination of interventions recommended in this guidance, national activities will be most effective if implemented alongside the underlying values addressed in this document regarding the elimination of structural barriers, the reduction of stigma and discrimination, and involvement of the men that the services intend to reach.

As many countries in Europe experience constrained public health budgets, it is more important than ever to implement targeted and evidence-based measures that address the groups most affected by the HIV epidemic as well as those most at-risk for disease acquisition and transmission. The promotion of sexual health using positive message framed in an empowering environment in relation to individual needs, will ensure greater effectiveness of the disease prevention efforts, hopefully resulting in risk reduction and decreasing trends in the new infections of HIV and other STI in Europe.

References

- 1. Beyrer C, Wirtz AL, Walker D, Johns B, Sifakis F, Baral S. The global HIV epidemics among Men Who Have Sex With Men. The World Bank, D.C: 2011. Available at: <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTHIVAIDS/Resources/375798-1103037153392/MSMReport.pdf.</u>
- 2. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Sexually transmitted infections in Europe, 2012. Stockholm: 2014.
- 3. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV Surveillance in Europe 2013. Stockholm: 2014.
- 4. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Thematic report: Men who have sex with men. Monitoring implementation of the Dublin Declaration on Partnership to Fight HIV/AIDS in Europe and Central Asia: 2012 Progress Report. Stockholm: 2013.
- Rimseliene G, Nilsen O, Klovstad H, Blystad H, Aavitsland P. Epidemiology of acute and chronic hepatitis B virus infection in Norway, 1992-2009. BMC infectious diseases. 2011;11:153. PubMed PMID: 21615904. Epub 2011/05/28. eng.
- Bozicevic I, Rode OD, Lepej SZ, Johnston LG, Stulhofer A, Dominkovic Z, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections among men who have sex with men in Zagreb, Croatia. AIDS Behav. 2009;13(2):303-9. PubMed PMID: 18690533. Epub 2008/08/12. eng.
- Meffre C, Le Strat Y, Delarocque-Astagneau E, Dubois F, Antona D, Lemasson JM, et al. Prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infections in France in 2004: social factors are important predictors after adjusting for known risk factors. J Med Virol. 2010;82(4):546-55. PubMed PMID: 20166185. Epub 2010/02/19. eng.
- 8. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Hepatitis B and C in Europe. European Center for Disease Prevention and Control, 2014.
- 9. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. STI and HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. Stockholm: 2013.
- Gambotti L, Batisse D, Colin-de-Verdiere N, Delaroque-Astagneau E, Desenclos JC, Dominguez S, et al. Acute hepatitis C infection in HIV positive men who have sex with men in Paris, France, 2001-2004. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles. European communicable disease bulletin. 2005;10(5):115-7. PubMed PMID: 16077209. Epub 2005/08/04. eng.
- 11. Bordi L, Rozera G, Scognamiglio P, Minosse C, Loffredo M, Antinori A, et al. Monophyletic outbreak of Hepatitis A involving HIV-infected men who have sex with men, Rome, Italy 2008-2009. Journal of clinical virology : the official publication of the Pan American Society for Clinical Virology. 2012 May;54(1):26-9. PubMed PMID: 22341552.
- 12. Tortajada C, de Olalla PG, Diez E, Pinto RM, Bosch A, Perez U, et al. Hepatitis A among men who have sex with men in Barcelona, 1989-2010: insufficient control and need for new approaches. BMC infectious diseases. 2012;12:11. PubMed PMID: 22264382. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3282664.
- 13. Dabrowska MM, Nazzal K, Wiercinska-Drapalo A. Hepatitis A and hepatitis A virus/HIV coinfection in men who have sex with men, Warsaw, Poland, September 2008 to September 2009. Euro surveillance : bulletin European sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2011;16(34). PubMed PMID: 21903035.
- 14. Sfetcu O, Irvine N, Ngui SL, Emerson C, McCaughey C, Donaghy P. Hepatitis A outbreak predominantly affecting men who have sex with men in Northern Ireland, October 2008 to July 2009. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles. European communicable disease bulletin. 2011;16(9). PubMed PMID: 21392487.
- 15. Wandeler G, Gsponer T, Bregenzer A, Gunthard HF, Clerc O, Calmy A, et al. Hepatitis C virus infections in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study: a rapidly evolving epidemic. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2012 Nov 15;55(10):1408-16. PubMed PMID: 22893583.
- 16. Baggaley RF, White RG, Boily MC. HIV transmission risk through anal intercourse: systematic review, meta-analysis and implications for HIV prevention. International journal of epidemiology.39(4):1048-63. PubMed PMID: 20406794. Epub 2010/04/22. eng.
- 17. Beyrer C, Baral SD, van Griensven F, Goodreau SM, Chariyalertsak S, Wirtz AL, et al. Global epidemiology of HIV infection in men who have sex with men. Lancet. 2012 Jul 28;380(9839):367-77. PubMed PMID: 22819660. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3805037.
- 18. Grulich AE, Zablotska I. Commentary: probability of HIV transmission through anal intercourse. International journal of epidemiology. 2010 Aug;39(4):1064-5. PubMed PMID: 20511336.
- 19. Amirkhanian YA. Social Networks, Sexual Networks and HIV Risk in Men Who Have Sex with Men. . Current HIV/AIDS Reports. 2014;11(1):81-92.
- 20. Lewis F, Hughes GJ, Rambaut A, Pozniak A, Leigh Brown AJ. Episodic sexual transmission of HIV revealed by molecular phylodynamics. PLoS medicine. 2008 Mar 18;5(3):e50. PubMed PMID: 18351795. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2267814.

- 21. Berg RC, Tikkanen R, Ross MW. Predictors of reporting bareback sex among a diverse sample of MSM recruited through a Swedish website. AIDS Care. 2011;23(12):1644-51. PubMed PMID: 22117126. Epub 2011/11/26. eng.
- 22. Heijman T, Geskus RB, Davidovich U, Coutinho RA, Prins M, Stolte IG. Less decrease in risk behaviour from pre-HIV to post-HIV seroconversion among MSM in the combination antiretroviral therapy era compared with the pre-combination antiretroviral therapy era. AIDS. 2012;26(4):489-95. PubMed PMID: 22156971. Epub 2011/12/14. eng.
- 23. Knussen C, Flowers P, McDaid LM, Hart GJ. HIV-related sexual risk behaviour between 1996 and 2008, according to age, among men who have sex with men (Scotland). Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87(3):257-9. PubMed PMID: 21071563. Epub 2010/11/13. eng.
- 24. Cowan SA, Haff J. HIV and risk behaviour among men who have sex with men in Denmark--the 2006 Sex Life Survey. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2008;13(48):pii: 19050. PubMed PMID: 19040825. Epub 2008/12/02. eng.
- 25. Kolaric B, Stajduhar D. Risk behaviors for getting HIV infection among the Croatian men who have sex with men in 2007. Coll Antropol. 2011;35(3):855-9. PubMed PMID: 22053567. Epub 2011/11/08. eng.
- 26. Folch C, Munoz R, Zaragoza K, Casabona J. Sexual risk behaviour and its determinants among men who have sex with men in Catalonia, Spain. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2009;14(47): pii: 19415. PubMed PMID: 19941806. Epub 2009/11/28. eng.
- 27. Marcus U, Schmidt AJ, Berg R, Breveglieri M, Fernández-Dávila P, Ferrer L, et al. Differences in association between HIV testing and risk taking among men having sex with men (MSM) across Europe -. Results of the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS): 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract no. TUPE492.
- 28. The EMIS Network. EMIS 2010: The European Men-Who-Have-Sex-With-Men Internet Survey: Findings from 38 countries. Stockholm: 2013.
- 29. Brown AE, Gill ON, Delpech VC. HIV treatment as prevention among men who have sex with men in the UK: is transmission controlled by universal access to HIV treatment and care? HIV medicine. 2013 Oct;14(9):563-70. PubMed PMID: 23890150.
- 30. Phillips AN, Cambiano V, Nakagawa F, Brown AE, Lampe F, Rodger A, et al. Increased HIV Incidence in Men Who Have Sex with Men Despite High Levels of ART-Induced Viral Suppression: Analysis of an Extensively Documented Epidemic. PloS one. 2013;8(2):e55312. PubMed PMID: 23457467. Epub 2013/03/05. eng.
- 31. Ross MW, Berg RC, Schmidt AJ, Hospers HJ, Breveglieri M, Furegato M, et al. Internalised homonegativity predicts HIVassociated risk behavior in European men who have sex with men in a 38-country cross-sectional study: some public health implications of homophobia. BMJ Open. 2013;3(2). PubMed PMID: 23386580. Epub 2013/02/07. eng.
- 32. Schmidt AJ, Hickson F, Weatherburn P, Marcus U, Network E. Comparison of the performance of STI screening services for gay and bisexual men across 40 European cities: results from the European MSM Internet Survey. Sex Transm Infect. 2013 Nov;89(7):575-82. PubMed PMID: 23744961. Epub 2013 Jun 6.
- 33. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA). Homophobia, transphobia and discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in the EU Member States: Summary of findings, trends, challenges and promising practices. Vienna: European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, 2010.
- 34. European Union lesbian, gay,bisexual and transgender survey: Survey data explorer [Internet]. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA). 2013. Available from: <u>http://fra.europa.eu/DVS/DVT/lgbt.php</u>.
- 35. Berg RC, Ross MW, Weatherburn P, Schmidt AJ. Structural and environmental factors are associated with internalised homonegativity in men who have sex with men: findings from the European MSM Internet Survey (EMIS) in 38 countries. Social science & medicine. 2013 Feb;78:61-9. PubMed PMID: 23261257. Epub 2012/12/25. eng.
- 36. World Health Organization. Prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections among men who have sex with men and transgender people: recommendations for a public health approach Geneva: World Health Organization, 2011.
- 37. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: 2014.
- 38. Prevention and control of infectious diseases among people who inject drugs. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2011.
- 39. Stromdahl S, Hickson F, Pharris A, Sabidó M, Baral S, Thorson A. A systematic review of evidence to inform HIV prevention interventions among men who have sex with men in Europe. Eurosurveillance. 2015;20(15).
- Schardt C, Adams MB, Owens T, Keitz S, Fontelo P. Utilization of the PICO framework to improve searching PubMed for clinical questions. BMC medical informatics and decision making. 2007;7:16. PubMed PMID: 17573961. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1904193. Epub 2007/06/19. eng.
- Baral SD, Wirtz A, Sifakis F, Johns B, Walker D, Beyrer C. The Highest Attainable Standard of Evidence (HASTE) for HIV/AIDS Interventions: Toward a Public Health Approach to Defining Evidence. Public Health Rep. 2012;127(6):572-84. PubMed PMID: 23115382. Epub 2012/11/02. eng.

- 42. Schunemann H, Hill S, Guyatt G, Akl EA, Ahmed F. The GRADE approach and Bradford Hill's criteria for causation. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2011;65(5):392-5. PubMed PMID: 20947872. Epub 2010/10/16. eng.
- 43. Beyrer C, Sullivan PS, Sanchez J, Dowdy D, Altman D, Trapence G, et al. A call to action for comprehensive HIV services for men who have sex with men. Lancet. 2012;380(9839):424-38. PubMed PMID: 22819663. Epub 2012/07/24. eng.
- 44. Baral S, Logie CH, Grosso A, Wirtz AL, Beyrer C. Modified social ecological model: a tool to guide the assessment of the risks and risk contexts of HIV epidemics. BMC public health. 2013;13:482. PubMed PMID: 23679953. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3674938.
- 45. Halkitis PN, Wolitski RJ, Millett GA. A holistic approach to addressing HIV infection disparities in gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. The American psychologist. 2013 May-Jun;68(4):261-73. PubMed PMID: 23688093.
- 46. Kurth AE, Celum C, Baeten JM, Vermund SH, Wasserheit JN. Combination HIV prevention: significance, challenges, and opportunities. Current HIV/AIDS reports. 2011 Mar;8(1):62-72. PubMed PMID: 20941553. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3036787. Epub 2010/10/14. eng.
- 47. Combination HIV Prevention: Tailoring and Coordinating Biomedical, Behavioural and Structural Strategies to Reduce New HIV Infections. UNAIDS, 2011.
- 48. Chang LW, Serwadda D, Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Reynolds SJ. Combination implementation for HIV prevention: moving from clinical trial evidence to population-level effects. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2013 Jan;13(1):65-76. PubMed PMID: 23257232. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3792852. Epub 2012/12/22. eng.
- 49. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B. Geneva: 2015.
- 50. Hepatitis B vaccines. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2009;84(40):405-19. PubMed PMID: 19817017. Epub 2009/10/13. eng fre.
- 51. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. ECDC Vaccine Scheduler Stockholm: ECDC; 2015 [cited 2015 25 March 2015]. Available from: <u>http://vaccine-schedule.ecdc.europa.eu/Pages/Scheduler.aspx</u>.
- 52. De Vuyst H, Clifford GM, Nascimento MC, Madeleine MM, Franceschi S. Prevalence and type distribution of human papillomavirus in carcinoma and intraepithelial neoplasia of the vulva, vagina and anus: a meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(7):1626-36. PubMed PMID: 19115209. Epub 2008/12/31. eng.
- 53. Parisi SG, Cruciani M, Scaggiante R, Boldrin C, Andreis S, Dal Bello F, et al. Anal and oral human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in HIV-infected subjects in northern Italy: a longitudinal cohort study among men who have sex with men. BMC infectious diseases. 2011;11:150. PubMed PMID: 21612634. Epub 2011/05/27. eng.
- 54. European AIDS Clinical Society. EACS Guidelines, Version 7.1. 2014.
- 55. Stone E, Heagerty P, Vittinghoff E, Douglas JM, Jr., Koblin BA, Mayer KH, et al. Correlates of condom failure in a sexually active cohort of men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1999;20(5):495-501. PubMed PMID: 10225233. Epub 1999/05/04. eng.
- 56. Voeller B, Coulson AH, Bernstein GS, Nakamura RM. Mineral oil lubricants cause rapid deterioration of latex condoms. Contraception. 1989;39(1):95-102. PubMed PMID: 2535978. Epub 1989/01/01. eng.
- 57. White N, Taylor K, Lyszkowski A, Tullett J, Morris C. Dangers of lubricants used with condoms. Nature. 1988;335(6185):19. PubMed PMID: 3412452. Epub 1988/09/01. eng.
- 58. MSMGF. The 2010 Annual Report of the Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF). Available at: http://www.msmgf.org/files/msmgf/About_Us/Publications/MSMGF_Annual_Rept_2011_lowres.pdf.
- 59. International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections (IUSTI). European guideline for the management of genital herpes. 2010.
- 60. British Association for Sexual Health and HIV (BASHH). 2014 UK National Guideline for the Management of Anogenital Herpes. 2014.
- 61. Galvan FH, Bluthenthal RN, Ani C, Bing EG. Increasing HIV testing among latinos by bundling HIV testing with other tests. J Urban Health. 2006;83(5):849-59. PubMed PMID: 16755390. Epub 2006/06/07. eng.
- 62. Scott C, Day S, Low E, Sullivan A, Atkins M, Asboe D. Unselected hepatitis C screening of men who have sex with men attending sexual health clinics. J Infect. 2010;60(5):351-3. PubMed PMID: 20153770. Epub 2010/02/16. eng.
- 63. Lee D, Fairley C, Cummings R, Bush M, Read T, Chen M. Men who have sex with men prefer rapid testing for syphilis and may test more frequently using it. Sex Transm Dis. 2010;37(9):557-8. PubMed PMID: 20803780. Epub 2010/08/31. eng.
- 64. The use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing hiv infection. WHO, 2013.
- 65. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE). Increasing the upatake of HIV testing among men who have sex with men. . London: 2011.
- 66. Branson BM, Handsfield HH, Lampe MA, Janssen RS, Taylor AW, Lyss SB, et al. Revised recommendations for HIV testing of adults, adolescents, and pregnant women in health-care settings. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-14):1-17; quiz CE1-4. PubMed PMID: 16988643. Epub 2006/09/22. eng.

- 67. European Center for Disease Prevention and Control. HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. . Stockholm: 2010 <u>http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/publications/101129 ter hiv testing evidence.pdf.</u> Report No.
- 68. HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2010.
- 69. World Health Organization. Guidance on provider initiated HIV testing and counselling in health care facilities, 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/vct/pitc2007/en/</u>.
- 70. Mounier-Jack S, Nielsen S, Coker RJ. HIV testing strategies across European countries. HIV medicine. 2008;9 Suppl 2:13-9. PubMed PMID: 18557864. Epub 2008/07/02. eng.
- 71. Bartlett JG, Branson BM, Fenton K, Hauschild BC, Miller V, Mayer KH. Opt-out testing for human immunodeficiency virus in the United States: progress and challenges. JAMA. 2008;300(8):945-51. PubMed PMID: 18728268. Epub 2008/08/30. eng.
- 72. Holtgrave DR. Costs and consequences of the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's recommendations for opt-out HIV testing. PLoS medicine. 2007;4(6):e194. PubMed PMID: 17564488. Epub 2007/06/15. eng.
- 73. Paltiel AD, Walensky RP, Schackman BR, Seage GR, 3rd, Mercincavage LM, Weinstein MC, et al. Expanded HIV screening in the United States: effect on clinical outcomes, HIV transmission, and costs. Ann Intern Med. 2006;145(11):797-806. PubMed PMID: 17146064. Epub 2006/12/06. eng.
- 74. Lorenc T, Marrero-Guillamon I, Aggleton P, Cooper C, Llewellyn A, Lehmann A, et al. Promoting the uptake of HIV testing among men who have sex with men: systematic review of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87(4):272-8. PubMed PMID: 21441274. Epub 2011/03/29. eng.
- 75. Parisi MR, Soldini L, Vidoni G, Clemente F, Mabellini C, Belloni T, et al. Cross-sectional study of community serostatus to highlight undiagnosed HIV infections with oral fluid HIV-1/2 rapid test in non-conventional settings. The new microbiologica. 2013 Apr;36(2):121-32. PubMed PMID: 23686118.
- 76. Chen MY, Bilardi JE, Lee D, Cummings R, Bush M, Fairley CK. Australian men who have sex with men prefer rapid oral HIV testing over conventional blood testing for HIV. International journal of STD & AIDS. 2010;21(6):428-30. PubMed PMID: 20606224. Epub 2010/07/08. eng.
- 77. Meulbroek M, Ditzel E, Saz J, Taboada H, Perez F, Perez A, et al. BCN Checkpoint, a community-based centre for men who have sex with men in Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain, shows high efficiency in HIV detection and linkage to care. HIV medicine. 2013;14:25-8.
- 78. Bavinton BR, Brown G, Hurley M, Bradley J, Keen P, Conway DP, et al. Which Gay Men Would Increase Their Frequency of HIV Testing with Home Self-testing? AIDS Behav. 2013 Mar 23. PubMed PMID: 23525790. Epub 2013/03/26. Eng.
- 79. Down I, Wilson DP, McCann PD, Gray R, Hoare A, Bradley J, et al. Increasing gay men's testing rates and enhancing partner notification can reduce the incidence of syphilis. Sex Health. 2012 Nov;9(5):472-80. PubMed PMID: 23380198. Epub 2013/02/06. eng.
- Woodward CL, Roedling S, Edwards SG, Armstrong A, Richens J. Computer-assisted survey of attitudes to HIV and sexually transmissible infection partner notification in HIV-positive men who have sex with men. Sex Health. 2010 Dec;7(4):460-2. PubMed PMID: 21062587. Epub 2010/11/11. eng.
- 81. Sexually transmitted infections in Europe 2011. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2013.
- Mayaud P, Mabey D. Approaches to the control of sexually transmitted infections in developing countries: old problems and modern challenges. Sex Transm Infect. 2004 Jun;80(3):174-82. PubMed PMID: 15169997. Epub 2004/06/01. eng.
- 83. Mimiaga MJ, Reisner SL, Tetu AM, Bonafide KE, Cranston K, Bertrand T, et al. Partner notification after STD and HIV exposures and infections: knowledge, attitudes, and experiences of Massachusetts men who have sex with men. Public Health Rep. 2009 Jan-Feb;124(1):111-9. PubMed PMID: 19413033. Epub 2009/05/06. eng.
- 84. Mimiaga MJ, Fair AD, Tetu AM, Novak DS, Vanderwarker R, Bertrand T, et al. Acceptability of an internet-based partner notification system for sexually transmitted infection exposure among men who have sex with men. Am J Public Health. 2008;98(6):1009-11. PubMed PMID: 17901442. Epub 2007/09/29. eng.
- Mimiaga MJ, Tetu AM, Gortmaker S, Koenen KC, Fair AD, Novak DS, et al. HIV and STD status among MSM and attitudes about Internet partner notification for STD exposure. Sex Transm Dis. 2008;35(2):111-6. PubMed PMID: 18007274. Epub 2007/11/17. eng.
- 86. European guidlines [Internet]. 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.iusti.org/regions/europe/euroguidelines.htm</u>.
- 87. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(6):493-505. PubMed PMID: 21767103. Epub 2011/07/20. eng.
- Attia S, Egger M, Muller M, Zwahlen M, Low N. Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2009;23(11):1397-404. PubMed PMID: 19381076. Epub 2009/04/22. eng.

- Rodger A, Bruun T, Cambiano V, Vernazza P, Estrada V, Van Lunzen J, et al. HIV Transmission Risk Through Condomless Sex If HIV+ Partner On Suppressive ART: PARTNER Study (CROI abstract 153LB). Confernce on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI); Boston: Topics in Antiviral Medicine; 2014. p. 45.
- 90. Benn P, Fisher M, Kulasegaram R, Bashh, Group PGWGCE. UK guideline for the use of post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV following sexual exposure (2011). International journal of STD & AIDS. 2011 Dec;22(12):695-708. PubMed PMID: 22174049.
- 91. Otten RA, Smith DK, Adams DR, Pullium JK, Jackson E, Kim CN, et al. Efficacy of postexposure prophylaxis after intravaginal exposure of pig-tailed macaques to a human-derived retrovirus (human immunodeficiency virus type 2). J Virol. 2000;74(20):9771-5. PubMed PMID: 11000253. Epub 2000/09/23. eng.
- 92. Garcia-Lerma JG, Otten RA, Qari SH, Jackson E, Cong ME, Masciotra S, et al. Prevention of rectal SHIV transmission in macaques by daily or intermittent prophylaxis with emtricitabine and tenofovir. PLoS medicine. 2008;5(2):e28. PubMed PMID: 18254653. Epub 2008/02/08. eng.
- 93. Schechter M, do Lago RF, Mendelsohn AB, Moreira RI, Moulton LH, Harrison LH, et al. Behavioral impact, acceptability, and HIV incidence among homosexual men with access to postexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. 2004;35(5):519-25. PubMed PMID: 15021317. Epub 2004/03/17. eng.
- 94. Antiretroviral Postexposure Prophylaxis after sexual, injection-drug use, or other nonoccupational exposure to HIV in the United States. Recommendations from the U.S. Department of Health and Human services. The U.S. Department of Health and Human services, 2005.
- 95. Martin JN, Roland ME, Neilands TB, Krone MR, Bamberger JD, Kohn RP, et al. Use of postexposure prophylaxis against HIV infection following sexual exposure does not lead to increases in high-risk behavior. AIDS. 2004;18(5):787-92. PubMed PMID: 15075514. Epub 2004/04/13. eng.
- 96. Lunding S, Katzenstein TL, Kronborg G, Lindberg JA, Jensen J, Nielsen HI, et al. The Danish PEP registry: experience with the use of postexposure prophylaxis (PEP) following sexual exposure to HIV from 1998 to 2006. Sex Transm Dis. 2010;37(1):49-52. PubMed PMID: 19734819. Epub 2009/09/08. eng.
- 97. Grant RM LJ, Anderson PL. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med 2010;363(27): 2587-99.
- 98. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(27):2587-99. PubMed PMID: 21091279. Epub 2010/11/26. eng.
- 99. Grant RM, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu A, Amico KR, Mehrotra M, et al. Uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis, sexual practices, and HIV incidence in men and transgender women who have sex with men: a cohort study. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2014 Jul 22. PubMed PMID: 25065857.
- 100. McCormack S, Dunn D, On behalf of the PROUD Study Group. Pragmatic Open-Label Randomised Trial of Preexposure Prophylaxis: The PROUD Study. CROI 2015; 24 February 2015; Seattle, WA2015.
- 101. Molina J-M, Capitant C, Spire B, Pialoux G, Chidiac C, Charreau I, et al. On Demand PrEP With Oral TDF-FTC in MSM: Results of the ANRS Ipergay Trial. CROI 2015; Seattle, WA2015.
- 102. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/Terrence Higgins Trust. Understanding the impact of smart phone applications on MSM sexual health and STI/HIV prevention in Europe. Unpublished report: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/Terrence Higgins Trust, 2015.
- 103. Kelly JA, St Lawrence JS, Diaz YE, Stevenson LY, Hauth AC, Brasfield TL, et al. HIV risk behavior reduction following intervention with key opinion leaders of population: an experimental analysis. Am J Public Health. 1991;81(2):168-71. PubMed PMID: 1990853. Epub 1991/02/01. eng.
- 104. Arreola S, Ayala G, Baños O, Beck J, Keatley J, Sundararaj M. In our words: Preferences, Values, and Perspectives on HIV Prevention and Treatment: A Civil Society Consultation with MSM & Transgender People. The Global Forum on MSM & HIV, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.asylumlaw.org/docs/sexualminorities/WHO_Report1.pdf</u>.
- 105. Lorimer K, Kidd L, Lawrence M, McPherson K, Cayless S, Cornish F. Systematic review of reviews of behavioural HIV prevention interventions among men who have sex with men. AIDS Care. 2013;25(2):133-50. PubMed PMID: 22774763. Epub 2012/07/11. eng.
- 106. Berg R. The effectiveness of behavioural and psychosocial HIV/STI prevention interventions for MSM in Europe: A systematic review. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2009;14(48). PubMed PMID: 20003895. Epub 2009/12/17. eng.
- 107. Gee R. Primary care health issues among men who have sex with men. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2006;18(4):144-53. PubMed PMID: 16573727. Epub 2006/04/01. eng.
- 108. Mayer KH, Bekker LG, Stall R, Grulich AE, Colfax G, Lama JR. Comprehensive clinical care for men who have sex with men: an integrated approach. Lancet. 2012;380(9839):378-87. PubMed PMID: 22819653. Epub 2012/07/24. eng.
- 109. Kreiss JL, Patterson DL. Psychosocial issues in primary care of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. J Pediatr Health Care. 1997;11(6):266-74. PubMed PMID: 9423411. Epub 1998/01/10. eng.

- 110. Buchacz K, Patel P, Taylor M, Kerndt PR, Byers RH, Holmberg SD, et al. Syphilis increases HIV viral load and decreases CD4 cell counts in HIV-infected patients with new syphilis infections. AIDS. 2004;18(15):2075-9. PubMed PMID: 15577629. Epub 2004/12/04. eng.
- 111. Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Harlow LL, Rossi JS, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of change and HIV prevention: a review. Health Educ Q. 1994;21(4):471-86. PubMed PMID: 7843978. Epub 1994/01/01. eng.
- 112. McBride CM, Emmons KM, Lipkus IM. Understanding the potential of teachable moments: the case of smoking cessation. Health Educ Res. 2003;18(2):156-70. PubMed PMID: 12729175. Epub 2003/05/06. eng.
- 113. Pakenham KI. Specification of social support behaviours and network dimensions along the HIV continuum for gay men. Patient Educ Couns. 1998;34(2):147-57. PubMed PMID: 9731174. Epub 1998/09/10. eng.
- 114. Kalichman SC, Rompa D, Cage M, DiFonzo K, Simpson D, Austin J, et al. Effectiveness of an intervention to reduce HIV transmission risks in HIV-positive people. Am J Prev Med. 2001;21(2):84-92. PubMed PMID: 11457627. Epub 2001/07/18. eng.
- 115. Judson FN, Miller KG, Schaffnit TR. Screening for gonorrhea and syphilis in the gay baths--Denver, Colorado. Am J Public Health. 1977;67(8):740-2. PubMed PMID: 888990. Epub 1977/08/01. eng.
- 116. Merino HI, Judson FN, Bennett D, Schaffnit TR. Screening for gonorrhea and syphilis in gay bathhouses in Denver and Los Angeles. Public Health Rep. 1979;94(4):376-9. PubMed PMID: 472098. Epub 1979/07/01. eng.
- 117. Wolf FC, Judson FN. Intensive screening for gonorrhea, syphilis, and hepatitis B in a gay bathhouse does not lower the prevalence infection. Sex Transm Dis. 1980;7(2):49-52. PubMed PMID: 7394695. Epub 1980/04/01. eng.
- 118. Daskalakis D, Silvera R, Bernstein K, Stein D, Hagerty R, Hutt R, et al. Implementation of HIV testing at 2 New York City bathhouses: from pilot to clinical service. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2009;48(11):1609-16. PubMed PMID: 19400690. Epub 2009/04/30. eng.
- 119. Mullens AB, Staunton S, Debattista J, Hamernik E, Gill D. Sex on premises venue (SOPV) health promotion project in response to sustained increases in HIV notifications. Sex Health. 2009;6(1):41-4. PubMed PMID: 19254490. Epub 2009/03/04. eng.
- 120. Vanden Berghe W, Nostlinger C, Buve A, Beelaert G, Fransen K, Laga M. A venue-based HIV prevalence and behavioural study among men who have sex with men in Antwerp and Ghent, Flanders, Belgium, October 2009 to March 2010. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2011;16(28). PubMed PMID: 21794222. Epub 2011/07/29. eng.
- 121. Woods WJ, Euren J, Pollack LM, Binson D. HIV prevention in gay bathhouses and sex clubs across the United States. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. 2010;55 Suppl 2:S88-90. PubMed PMID: 21406994. Epub 2011/03/26. eng.
- 122. Simon Rosser BR, West W, Weinmeyer R. Are gay communities dying or just in transition? Results from an international consultation examining possible structural change in gay communities. AIDS Care. 2008;20(5):588-95. PubMed PMID: 18484330. Epub 2008/05/20. eng.
- 123. Lewnard JA, Berrang-Ford L. Internet-based partner selection and risk for unprotected anal intercourse in sexual encounters among men who have sex with men: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Sex Transm Infect. 2014 Jun;90(4):290-6. PubMed PMID: 24518249.
- 124. Mowlabocus S. Gaydar Culture: Gay Men, Technology and Embodiment in the Digital Age. London, UK: Ashgate; 2010.
- 125. Bowen AM, Horvath K, Williams ML. A randomized control trial of Internet-delivered HIV prevention targeting rural MSM. Health Educ Res. 2007;22(1):120-7. PubMed PMID: 16849391. Epub 2006/07/20. eng.
- 126. Noar SM, Black HG, Pierce LB. Efficacy of computer technology-based HIV prevention interventions: a meta-analysis. AIDS. 2009;23(1):107-15. PubMed PMID: 19050392. Epub 2008/12/04. eng.
- 127. Bailey JV, Murray E, Rait G, Mercer CH, Morris RW, Peacock R, et al. Interactive computer-based interventions for sexual health promotion. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010 (9):CD006483. PubMed PMID: 20824850. Epub 2010/09/09. eng.

Annex 1. Interventions, strength of evidence, and expert opinion

Intervention	Outcome	Strength of evidence	Expert opinion
VACCINATION			
Provision of hepatitis A & B vaccination	Vaccine efficacy	Strong (1)	Recommended
Provision of HPV vaccination	Vaccine efficacy to prevent anal intraepithelial neoplasia	Pending (2c)	Recommended as per national guidelines,
Vaccines for PLHIV	Not reviewed for this guidand recommend	ce; EACS guidelines (54)	Recommended, based on clinical judgement
CONDOMS			
Condom use	HIV incidence	Strong (1)	Recommended
Condom-compatible lubricant use	Condom failure	Probable (2a)	Recommended
HIV & STI TESTING			
HIV testing	Condom use	Probable (2a)	Recommended
Regular STI screening of asymptomatic MSM	STI incidence	Probable (2a)	Recommended
Voluntary anonymous partner referral	HIV incidence	Pending (2c)	Recommended, stressing that participation should be both voluntary and anonymous
TREATMENT*			
Treatment for HIV, hepatitis B and C, and other sexually transmitted diseases	Efficacy not reviewed for this guidelines are referred to	guidance and clinical	Recommended
HIV treatment as prevention	HIV incidence	Strong (1)	Recommended, stressing that the primary reason for treatment should be for the good of the individual HIV-positive man in need of treatment
Post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP)	HIV incidence	Probable (2a)	Recommended
Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)	HIV incidence	Possible (2b)**	Recommended, implementation considerations need revisiting as PrEP expands outside of trial settings in Europe
HEALTH PROMOTION			
Peer-led group interventions	UAI (unprotected anal intercourse)	Strong (1)	Recommended
Peer outreach	UAI	Strong (1)	Recommended
Social marketing media campaigns	Uptake of HIV testing	Probable (2b)	Recommended
Sex venue-based interventions	UAI and uptake of HIV testing	Probable (2a)	Recommended
Individual counselling for MSM	UAI	Possible (2b)	Recommended
Internet-based HIV prevention messages	UAI	Possible (2b)	Recommended
Campaigns for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans equality	Self-reported stigma towards LGBTI	Pending (2c)	Recommended
DELIVERY OF MSM-COMPETEN	T HEALTH SERVICES		
MSM-competent clinics	No intervention studies found	Pending (2c)	Recommended
Training for health care providers to offer comprehensive care for MSM	No intervention studies found	Pending, Grade (2c)	Recommended
TARGETED CARE FOR MSM LIV	ING WITH HIV		
Individual counselling for MSM living with HIV	UAI	Probable Grade (2a)	Recommended
Peer-led group interventions targeting MSM living with HIV	UAI	Probable Grade (2a)	Recommended

*Treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections and viral hepatitis was not reviewed for efficacy, rather national and European treatment guidelines should be followed. Other aspects of treatment provision were included in the review.

**This review was carried out and grading performed prior to release of UK PROUD Study (McCormack et al, CROI 2015) and Ipergay (Molina et al CROI 2015) studies. Taking these into account, the strength of evidence and recommendation for PrEP would increase further.

Interventions reviewed which were not included in the guidance due to strength of evidence and expert opinion

Intervention	Outcome	Strength of evidence	Expert opinion
Voluntary medical male circumcision	HIV incidence	Possible (2b) * evidence of reduced incidence for MSM who are only or mostly insertive during intercourse	Not recommended due to lack of evidence for efficacy for receptive anal sex; perceived unacceptability to the target group
Avoid semen in the mouth/unprotected oral sex	HIV incidence	Insufficient (3)	Not recommended
Avoiding nitrate inhalants/poppers during intercourse	No studies retrieved	Insufficient (3)	No recommendation made due to insufficient evidence for reduction of HIV transmission; members of the expert group noted that use of stimulants affect individuals' decision-making capacity with regard to sexual risk behaviour
Serosorting	HIV incidence	Insufficient (3)	Not recommended
Interventions to reduce alcohol binge-drinking	UAI	Insufficient (3)	No recommendation made due to insufficient evidence for reduced HIV/STI transmission; members of the expert group noted that alcohol affects individuals' decision-making capacity with regard to sexual risk behaviour
Female condom use for anal sex	Condom failure	Pending (2c)	While biologically plausible, it was deemed that the product needed to be adjusted for anal sex in order to be used by MSM. It was the opinion of the expert group that this intervention is rarely used among MSM

Annex 2. Links and related guidance

Title	Link
International Union against Sexually Transmitted Infections: Current European Guidelines (IUSTI 2015)	http://www.iusti.org/regions/Europe/euroguidelines.htm
European AIDS Clinical Society: Guidelines Version 7.1 (EACS 2014)	http://www.eacsociety.org/files/guidelines_english_71_141204.pdf
Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection. (WHO 2013)	http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/arv2013/en/index.html
Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. (WHO 2014)	http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/128048/1/9789241507431_eng.pdf?ua=1
EASL clinical practice guidelines: management of hepatitis C virus infection. (EASL 2015)	http://www.easl.eu/research/our-contributions/clinical-practice-guidelines/detail/management-of- hepatitis-c-virus-infection-revised-version
EASL clinical practice guidelines: management of chronic hepatitis B (EASL 2012)	http://www.easl.eu/medias/cpg/issue8/Report.pdf
ECDC Guidance: HIV testing: increasing uptake and effectiveness in the European Union. (ECDC 2010)	http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/101129_GUI_HIV_testing.pdf
ECDC Guidance: Introduction of HPV vaccines in European Union countries – an update. (ECDC 2012)	http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/publications/20120905_gui_hpv_vaccine_update.pdf http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/activities/sciadvice/_layouts/forms/Review_DispForm.aspx?List=a3216f4c- f040-4f51-9f77-a96046dbfd72&ID=758
The European Men-who-have- sex-with-men survey. (EMIS (2014)	http://www.emis-project.eu/journal-articles http://www.emis-project.eu/sites/default/files/public/publications/emis- 2010 european msm internet survey 38 countries v5.pdf
European Union Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Survey: main results. (EU FRA 2013)	http://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2014/eu-lgbt-survey-european-union-lesbian-gay-bisexual-and- transgender-survey-main
Increasing the uptake of HIV testing among men who have sex with men. (NICE 2011)	https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph34/resources/guidance-increasing-the-uptake-of-hiv-testing- among-men-who-have-sex-with-men-pdf
SIALON I and II	http://www.sialon.eu/en/
EUROSUPPORT: Developing a training and resource package for improving sexual and reproductive health of people living with HIV	http://www.eurosupportstudy.net/euro_support.htm
COBATEST project: A guide to do it better in our CBVCT services and Acceptability and feasibility of introducing the HIV rapid oral test in CBVCTs	https://eurohivedat.eu/
HIV Community-based testing practices in Europe Voluntary Counselling and Testing Project (COBATEST)	https://eurohivedat.eu/
OptTEST	http://www.cphiv.dk/Collaborations/HIV-in-Europe/OptTEST
Operational knowledge to improve HIV early diagnosis and treatment among vulnerable groups in Europe (Euro HIV EDAT)	https://eurohivedat.eu/
Mapping of behavioural surveillance for HIV and STI (ECDC 2009)	http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/0909_TER_Mapping_of_HIV_STI_Behavioural_Su rveillance_in_Europe.pdf

The second se	la teste
Title	Link
Comprehensive approach to HIV/STI prevention in the context of sexual health in the EU/EEA (ECDC 2013)	http://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/HVI-STI-prevention-comprehensive- approach-in-the-context-of-sexual-health-EU-EEA.pdf
The Global Forum on MSM & HIV	http://www.msmgf.org/index.cfm/id/81/Publications/
STI and HIV prevention among men who have sex with men in Europe (ECDC 2013)	http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/STI-HIV-prevention-MSM-in-Europe-21-Feb- 2013.pdf
Rainbow Europe Map and Index (ILGA 2012)	http://rainbow-europe.org/
FEMP 2011 – Conference of the future of the European prevention among men who have sex with men (SMI 2011)	http://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/pagefiles/12841/femp-2011-future-european-prevention-men- have-sex-with-men.pdf
Consolidated strategic information guidelines for HIV in the health sector (WHO 2015)	http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/strategic-information-guidelines/en/

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

Postal address: Granits väg 8, SE-171 65 Solna, Sweden

Visiting address: Tomtebodavägen 11A, SE-171 65 Solna, Sweden

Tel. +46 858601000 Fax +46 858601001 www.ecdc.europa.eu

An agency of the European Union www.europa.eu

Subscribe to our publications www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications

Contact us publications@ecdc.europa.eu

Follow us on Twitter @ECDC

1 Like our Facebook page www.facebook.com/ECDC.EU

ECDC is committed to ensuring the transparency and independence of its work

In accordance with the Staff Regulations for Officials and Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Union and the ECDC Independence Policy, ECDC staff members shall not, in the performance of their duties, deal with a matter in which, directly or indirectly, they have any personal interest such as to impair their independence. Declarations of interest must be received from any prospective contractor(s) before any contract can be awarded. www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/aboutus/transparency

HOW TO OBTAIN EU PUBLICATIONS

Free publications:

- one copy:
 - via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu);
- more than one copy or posters/maps:

from the European Union's representations (http://ec.europa.eu/represent_en.htm); from the delegations in non-EU countries (http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/index_en.htm) by contacting the Europe Direct service (http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm) or calling oo 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (freephone number from anywhere in the EU) (*).

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

Priced publications:

via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu).

